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Our first hydrocarbon discovery

 Coming of age



Profile

WesternZagros Resources Ltd. is an international natural resources company engaged in acquiring properties 
and exploring for, developing and producing crude oil and natural gas in Iraq. WesternZagros, through its 
wholly-owned subsidiaries, holds a Production Sharing Contract with the Kurdistan Regional Government in 
the Kurdistan Region of Iraq.

Annual and special meeting

The Annual and Special Meeting of the shareholders of WesternZagros will be held on Tuesday, June 1, 2010 at 
3:30 pm in Meeting Room #1, Plus 15 Level, Ernst & Young Tower, 440 Second Avenue SW, Calgary, Alberta.
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Coming of age marks that moment in time when a development of great 
magnitude propels one forward to the next stage of existence. 

2009 was a coming of age year for WesternZagros, a year in which we applied the 
lessons learned through our early corporate history to prove the existence of one 
of the world’s great hydrocarbon formations on our lease block, and to establish 
ourselves as a credible player in the Iraqi oil industry.

Our Mission: To be recognized, through consistently superior business 
performance and operations excellence, as one of the leading junior oil and gas 
companies active in Iraq.

Forward-Looking Statements
This annual report contains certain forward-looking statements relating, but not limited, to operational information, future drilling plans and testing 
programs and the timing associated therewith, and estimated costs. Forward-looking information typically contains statements with words such 
as “anticipate”, “estimate”, “expect”, “potential”, “could”, or similar words suggesting future outcomes. The Company cautions readers to not place 
undue reliance on forward-looking information as by its nature, it is based on current expectations regarding future events that involve a number of 
assumptions, inherent risks and uncertainties, which could cause actual results to differ materially from those anticipated by WesternZagros. These 
forward-looking statements are made as of the date hereof, and the Company assumes no obligation to update or revise them to reflect new events 
or circumstances, except as required by law.

Forward-looking statements are not based on historical facts but rather on management’s current expectations and assumptions regarding, among 
other things, plans for and results of drilling activity, future capital and other expenditures (including the amount, nature and sources of funding 
thereof), future economic conditions, continued political stability, timely receipt of any necessary government or regulatory approvals, the continued 
participation of the Company’s co-venturers in exploration activities and the timely receipt of any insurance proceeds due to the Company. Although 
the Company believes the expectations and assumptions reflected in such forward-looking information are reasonable, they may prove to be 
incorrect. Forward-looking information involves significant known and unknown risks and uncertainties. A number of factors could cause actual 
results to differ materially from those anticipated by WesternZagros including, but not limited to, risks associated with the oil and gas industry 
(e.g. operational risks in exploration; inherent uncertainties in interpreting geological data; changes in plans with respect to exploration or capital 
expenditures; interruptions in operations together with any associated insurance proceedings; the uncertainty of estimates and projections in relation 
to costs and expenses and health, safety and environmental risks), risks associated with resource estimates, the risk of commodity price and foreign 
exchange rate fluctuations, the uncertainty associated with negotiating with foreign governments and risk associated with international activity. 
These factors should not be considered exhaustive. These and other factors are discussed on page 27 of this Annual Report in the Risk Factors section 
of Management’s Discussion and Analysis.

In addition, statements relating to “resources” are deemed to be forward-looking statements, as they involve the implied assessment, based on certain 
estimates and assumptions, that the resources described can be profitably produced in the future. Terms related to resource classifications referred 
to herein are based on the definitions and guidelines in the Canadian Oil and Gas Evaluation Handbook. The definitions are set forth herein under 
“Operations review – Understanding the resource assessment”. There is no certainty that any portion of the prospective resources will be discovered 
and, if discovered, there is no certainty that it will be commercially viable to produce any portion of the prospective resources. With respect to 
contingent resources, there is no certainty that it will be commercially viable to produce any portion of such resources. Readers are also cautioned 
that disclosed test rates and potential production rates may not be indicative of ultimate production levels.
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 Message to our shareholders

WesternZagros had a milestone year in 2009, highlighted by the announcement of our first significant 

hydrocarbon discovery in November. The global economic recession – with universally constrained access 

to capital – made for an inauspicious start to the year. However, our company had adequate financing 

in place to proceed as planned with our second exploration well in the Kurdistan Region of Iraq. We 

spudded the Kurdamir-1 well on May 11, 2009 and spent the remainder of the year focused on a complex 

drilling operation. In November we announced that we had confirmed the presence of our primary target, 

a reservoir in the Oligocene formation, which contained 168 metres (over 550 feet) of gross pay and 

tested gas and condensate at combined rates of over 27 million cubic feet of gas per day and 1,150 barrels 

of condensate per day, with flow rates restricted by the testing equipment used at the well. 

We enter 2010 at an exciting time in WesternZagros’ history, as Kurdamir-1 proceeds and we prepare 

to test the numerous additional oil and gas shows we have had in the deeper Cretaceous interval. On 

other fronts, we are finding considerable optimism about the stabilization of the political situation in Iraq, 

commodity prices are strengthening and the global economy is showing signs of rebirth.

Kurdamir-1 drilling operations

Our drilling operations at Kurdamir-1 have 
benefited a great deal from the knowledge 
and experience gained during the drilling and 
subsequent suspension of the Sarqala-1 well a 
year earlier. At Sarqala-1 we had anticipated the 
complexities of the subsurface geology, where 
multiple stacked formations offer tremendous 
opportunities, but we were challenged by the 
extraordinary formation pressures encountered. 
Therefore, forewarned by the Sarqala experience, 
we were forearmed at Kurdamir-1 with additional 
casing strings and specialized drilling mud for 
the operations. 

Drilling at Kurdamir-1 progressed smoothly until 
we reached the Tertiary interval as expected at 
a depth of 2,140 metres. In the Tertiary, we ran 
into fractured carbonates that caused wellbore 
instability, but we completed sidetrack operations 
that enabled us to continue drilling, log the 
well, and complete two drill stem tests. Those 
tests confirmed our first significant discovery, 
with best estimate contingent resources 
of 523 billion cubic feet of natural gas and  
21 million barrels of condensate. In addition 

We enter 2010 at an exciting 

time in WesternZagros’ 

history, as Kurdamir-1 

proceeds and we prepare 

to test the numerous 

additional oil and gas shows 

we have had in the deeper 

Cretaceous interval.

M. Simon Hatfield
Chief Executive Officer
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to these contingent resources, which only 
account for the hydrocarbons on the crest of the 
geological structure, there is also the potential 
for prospective resources of either 100 million 
barrels of oil or 363 billion cubic feet of gas on 
the flanks of the Kurdamir structure and further 
additional undiscovered potential in the deeper 
Cretaceous interval. 

The significance of this discovery is both in its size 
and in the confirmation of the presence and the 
thickness of the high quality Oligocene reservoir 
on our block, where it is second in thickness 
only to that found in the super-giant Kirkuk 
oilfield. The contingent resources classification 
means that hydrocarbons are known to exist 
and are estimated to be potentially recoverable 
with established technology. They will become 
reserves once contingencies such as gas export 
infrastructure and economics are in place so as to 
make them commercially viable to produce.  

We continued to drill the Kurdamir-1 well into 
the deeper Cretaceous interval, where we were 
targeting reservoirs within both the Shiranish and 
Qamchuqa formations. At the time of writing, 
we had stopped drilling at a total depth of 4,077 
metres, having encountered oil and gas shows 
throughout the Aaliji seal and Shiranish Formation. 
We had completed well control operations, after 
having hit a high pressure zone in the Gulneri seal 
that lies above the Qamchuqa Formation, and we 
were preparing to sidetrack the well in order to 
log, case and test the zones of interest in the Aaliji 
seal and the Shiranish Formation.

Drilling and operational plans for 2010

A key decision facing us in 2010 is our drilling 
program for this year and next. Our production 
sharing contract requires our third exploration 
commitment well to be drilled in 2010, and we 
have a number of attractive prospects from 
which to choose. At the same time, we are 
excited by the opportunity to drill the flanks of 
the Kurdamir structure to determine whether an 
oil column exists.

message to our shareholders

Although we have more attractive prospects for 
drilling than our current financial resources can 
support, we have the funds to meet the costs 
of our third commitment exploration well. Our 
decision on which prospect to drill next depends 
on the results of the testing of Kurdamir. We have 
encountered challenges while drilling our first two 
wells, but we have not encountered anything that 
would dampen our enthusiasm for our numerous 
remaining prospects. We also believe that the 
costs and timing of future wells will be more 
easily controlled by applying the operational 
lessons learned from our first two wells.

During 2010 we will also continue with our 
evaluation of the commercial potential and technical 
feasibility of the gas and condensate discovered 
in the Tertiary interval at Kurdamir-1, together 
with any additional discoveries yet to be made. 
Options we may evaluate include a gas recycling 
project, in which we would utilize our existing well 
bore and that of any flank well drilled in order 
to monetize the gas and condensate discovery. 
Before proceeding with such an initiative, however, 
we need further information from the tests of the 
Shiranish Formation and from drilling a well on the 
flanks of the Kurdamir structure. 

To ensure we are using our financial resources 
efficiently and maximizing the probability of 
bringing on oil production as early as possible, we 
have applied to the Kurdistan Regional Government 
to extend the timeline for our third commitment 
well by one year. This would enable us to use the 
drilling rig that is currently on site at Kurdamir-1 
to drill the flanks of the structure to determine 
whether a deeper oil column exists, before moving 
on to our third wildcat exploration well.  

Drilling operations  
at Kurdamir-1
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message to our shareholders

Despite the geo-political challenges of operating 

in Iraq, we remain confident about the business 

environment in the Kurdistan Region and very 

optimistic about the petroleum geology of the area. 

The Kurdistan Region is both highly prospective for 

hydrocarbons and very lightly explored. WesternZagros 

remains one of very few pure play investment 

opportunities through which investors can get direct 

exposure to oil and gas exploration in Iraq. 

Operating in the Kurdistan Region

Despite the geo-political challenges of operating 
in Iraq, we remain confident about the business 
environment in the Kurdistan Region and very 
optimistic about the petroleum geology of 
the area. The Kurdistan Region is both highly 
prospective for hydrocarbons and very lightly 
explored. The Kurdistan Regional Government 
is strongly promoting oil and gas development 
as a key pillar of economic development in their 
historically disadvantaged region, as illustrated 
by the fair and balanced fiscal terms of our 
production sharing contract. We are heartened 
that the relationship between the Kurdistan 
Regional Government and the central government 
in Baghdad is rapidly improving, with the explicit 
acknowledgment on all sides that political stability 
is essential to economic development. 

As the fourth western company to enter the 
Kurdistan Region (and subsequently followed 
by many others), we have now established solid 
local relationships and operating knowledge. We 
believe that it is in the mutual interest of both 
the KRG and the central government to establish 
oil production and exports out of the Kurdistan 
Region. We look forward to the results of the 
democratic Iraqi elections held in March of 2010 
as the next step in the gradual stabilization of the 
country and the Region. 

Iraq is a country with immense potential in both 
its human and its natural resources, and we 
are proud to be part of its emerging business 
community. Western Zagros remains one of very 
few pure play investment opportunities through 
which investors can get direct exposure to oil 
and gas exploration in Iraq.  
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We also directly invest in the community in high 
priority areas, by contributing financially to 
improve water supply, health and education. We 
intend to operate in this area for many years to 
come, so we strive to be a good corporate citizen 
that will always be welcomed by the people of 
the Region. 

We are fortunate at WesternZagros to have 
attracted exceptionally high calibre employees 
and an experienced, active Board of Directors 
to provide stewardship. Many of our senior 
operating personnel came to us from the biggest 
international oil and gas companies, bringing 
with them decades of knowledge and specialized 
expertise. They came to WesternZagros because 
they saw a rare opportunity to unlock one of 
the world’s last remaining underexplored and 
high potential oil and gas regions. I thank all our 
employees, contractors, suppliers and partners 
for the expertise, professionalism, and enthusiasm 
they contribute to WesternZagros. 

I also thank our shareholders for their support 
and belief in what this company can accomplish. 
We are entering 2010 with a sense of optimism 
and forward momentum. Indeed, our coming 
of age theme for this annual report reflects our 
sense that 2009 was a key transition year for 
WesternZagros, the year in which we matured 
from being an unproven junior to become an 
established Kurdistan Region company in the 
business of hydrocarbon discovery. There will 
always be setbacks and disappointments in our 
business, but with our talented and determined 
team of people, our excellent land position, our 
financial strength and our relationships, we can 
look to the future with great confidence.

M. Simon Hatfield 
Chief Executive Officer

March 24, 2010

A focus on corporate social responsibility 

Of all of WesternZagros’ accomplishments in the 
five years we have been working in Iraq, one of 
our most impressive achievements is our safety 
record. By the end of 2009, we had worked four 
million man-hours without a lost-time incident. 
Given the remote frontier international operating 
environment in which we work, this record is 
remarkable, and the success is due entirely to the 
vigilance and professionalism of our employees 
and contractors. It’s a record that we are working 
hard to maintain as we move forward.

Similarly, we take pride in our local reputation as a 
company that is highly attentive to environmental 
protection and to local community investment. 
Given that we are a Canadian company with 
Canadian management, we operate to Canadian 
standards in all aspects of our business, even 
where that level of performance is not demanded 
by local regulations. In this way, we strive to be 
a leader in establishing high expectations and 
high standards in the areas of corporate social 
responsibility and health, safety and environment 
policies as the embryonic Kurdistan Region oil 
and gas industry rapidly develops.  

In community investment, the most enduring 
contribution we can make in the Kurdistan Region 
is to support economic development by hiring and 
sourcing goods and services locally, and we work 
with our community neighbours to do just that. 
We estimate that approximately 20 per cent of all 
our capital and operating expenditures directly or 
indirectly flow to the Kurdistan Region, and we are 
working to increase that percentage as additional 
local goods and services become available. 

message to our shareholders

A village in the  
Kurdistan Region
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Operations review

WesternZagros is in the business of hydrocarbon discovery. Exploring for oil and natural gas in the 

Kurdistan Region in Iraq has been our sole focus since we started working in the area in 2004. We hold 

a Production Sharing Contract (PSC) with the Kurdistan Regional Government on the Kalar-Bawanoor 

Block, a large, 2,120 square kilometre (523,826 acre) parcel of land in the Garmian area. We have a 40 per 

cent working interest in the PSC; a wholly-owned subsidiary of Talisman Energy Inc. holds a 40 per cent 

working interest; and the Kurdistan Regional Government holds the remaining 20 per cent working interest 

(carried by WesternZagros). As the operator, WesternZagros is currently developing and exploring the 

PSC lands, with the intent ultimately to produce crude oil and natural gas in Iraq.

There are now 38 international oil companies active in the Kurdistan Region, demonstrating the growing 

interest in this under-explored region of Iraq. Large fields of oil, gas and condensate have been discovered 

in Iraq and few prospective lands remain available for new entrants to the Region. The typical target 

reservoirs for oil and gas in this region are Tertiary and Cretaceous aged carbonates, and multiple stacked 

reservoirs are common within a single field. 

2009 highlights

Achieved a significant 

hydrocarbon discovery  

in the world class  

Oligocene reservoir  

at Kurdamir-1

Maintained close to  

a perfect safety record,  

with no lost time incidents 

during a combined total 

exposure of four million 

person hours

Assigned a dedicated 

corporate social  

responsibility team  

to continue initiatives  

to support the local 

community

Gathered valuable  

knowledge from  

the Sarqala-1  

drilling program
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Kurdamir-1 gas discovery demonstrates potential for oil

In November 2009, we made our first significant hydrocarbon discovery at our Kurdamir-1 well, our 
second wildcat exploration well in the Kurdistan Region. We confirmed both the presence of the 
Oligocene reservoir in the northern part of our block and the fact that it contains significant quantities 
of hydrocarbons. The Oligocene is the same reservoir that contains the oil reserves in the nearby super-
giant Kirkuk field. Despite the technical challenges of Kurdamir-1, we were also able to penetrate the 
deeper Shiranish Formation in the Cretaceous interval early in 2010. As of mid-March, we are planning 
a cased hole testing program of the intervals that had oil and gas shows while drilling. We are proud of 
the fact that we continued to complete our Kurdamir-1 operations without a single lost time incident, 
despite a number of drilling challenges. 

We began drilling at Kurdamir-1 in May of 2009, and we reached total depth of 4,077 metres in 
February 2010. Kurdamir-1 is our second commitment well. It is located on the crest of an anticlinal 
structure approximately 30 kilometres northeast of our first commitment well at Sarqala-1. Kurdamir-1 
targeted four potential reservoir zones – the Oligocene and Pilaspi/Jaddala in the Tertiary interval, 
and the Shiranish and Upper Qamchuqa in the Cretaceous interval. Prior to drilling, we incorporated 
numerous lessons learned from drilling the Tertiary interval in Sarqala-1. We added two intermediate 
casing strings, placed additional drilling expertise at the rig, and made enhanced drilling mud additives 
and expertise available.

As we drilled through the Tertiary in Kurdamir-1, we were excited to find evidence of a hydrocarbon-
bearing Oligocene reservoir containing 168 metres of gross pay, where we were able to successfully 
obtain a full suite of wireline logs, cut two cores and complete two drill stem tests. The drill stem 
tests were conducted between 2,195 metres and 2,235 metres and between 2,280 metres and 2,352  
metres respectively. 

operations review
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Dr. George Pinckney
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operations review

“Our moment of greatest excitement in 2009 was testing 

the Oligocene reservoir of the Kurdamir-1 well. After all the 

technical challenges we had overcome in drilling this well 

and its predecessor, it was tremendously rewarding to watch 

the huge flame erupt from the flare stack. Finding gas and 

condensate wasn’t our preferred outcome, but we look 

forward to testing the deeper zones and we are optimistic 

about finding oil.”

– Dr. George Pinckney, VP Exploration and over 35-year industry veteran
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operation review

“Drilling these deep, over-pressured reservoirs in a fold and 

a thrust belt environment, in a relatively unexplored area, 

is a process of constant discovery and learning. What we 

have learned at both Sarqala-1 and Kurdamir-1 has increased 

our confidence that there are significant hydrocarbons to 

be discovered on our block. The considerable technical 

challenges we have encountered and overcome have made 

us smarter about how to capture these resources as we 

move forward with our exploration activity.”

– Rob Theriault, Senior VP, Engineering & Operations and over 30-year industry veteran

8 WesternZagros Resources Ltd.

Rob Theriault
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operations review

Combined test rates equalled approximately 27.5 million cubic feet per day of gas and 1,172 barrels per 
day of 61 degrees API natural gas liquids (condensate). Test rates were limited due to testing equipment 
restrictions; however, initial well test analysis conducted by an independent third party indicates that 
reservoir production potential of approximately 52.0 million cubic feet per day of gas and 2,240 barrels 
per day of condensate could be expected from this reservoir. No formation water was recovered during 
the testing and no hydrocarbon-water interface was detected on wireline logs.

As the Kurdamir-1 well encountered no porous Oligocene reservoir below 2,312 metres, we are uncertain 
whether the gas and condensate discovery is:

•	 In	a	gas	cap	associated	with	a	deeper	oil	column	downdip	on	the	flanks	of	the	structure	(gas	caps	
on the crests of structures are common in the Tertiary intervals in neighbouring fields, including 
Kirkuk, Bai Hassan, and Khabbaz); or 

•	 In	a	non-associated	accumulation	with	a	deeper	gas	and	condensate	column	downdip	on	the	flanks	
of the structure without any downdip oil column (as is the case in the Kor Mor and Chemchamal 
gas-condensate fields); or

•	 In	association	with	a	water	column;	or

•	 In	association	with	any	combination	of	these.	

Additional information, likely to be obtained by drilling a well on the flank of the Kurdamir structure, 
will be required to confirm the existence of any resources in the Oligocene below 2,312 metres and 
whether they are oil, gas and condensate, or a combination of both. We do know from an independent 
geochemical analysis conducted on the condensate recovered during testing that it comes from an 
oil-prone source, likely associated with a deeper oil column either in the core or on the flanks of the 
Kurdamir structure. 

As the Kurdamir-1 well progressed through the Tertiary interval below the Oligocene formation, we 
encountered challenges related to wellbore instability in fractured carbonates, which required two 
sidetrack operations in order to continue drilling. After completing these sidetracks, we set and 
cemented 9 5/8 inch casing at 2,702 metres in the Aaliji seal and began drilling an 8 1/2 inch hole into the 
Cretaceous interval to reach two additional targets – the Shiranish and Upper Qamchuqa formations. 
At the time of writing, we had penetrated the Shiranish Formation and drilled into the deeper Gulneri 
seal to a depth of 4,077 metres, where we encountered high formation pressures. We implemented 
a well control operation and prepared to sidetrack the well in order to log, case and conduct a cased 
hole testing program in the Aaliji and Shiranish Formations, given that we had encountered numerous 
oil and gas shows while drilling through the Cretaceous interval. Due to the high formation pressures 
encountered at 4,077 metres, no deeper drilling will take place in this well. 

Contingent and prospective resources receive third-party validation

Sproule International Ltd. has audited the resource assessments from the WesternZagros discovery 
in the Oligocene reservoir. The reservoir contains gas initially-in-place estimated in a range of 635 
billion cubic feet (BCF) to 1,098 BCF. The estimated range of gross unrisked contingent resources is 
from 379 BCF to 696 BCF of gas and from 13 million barrels (MMBBL) to 32 MMBBL of condensate. 
The discovered gas initially-in-place and the contingent resources estimates were assigned across the 
crest of the Kurdamir structure down to a depth of 2,312 metres, which is the lowest known gas in the 
Kurdamir-1 wellbore as determined by wireline logs. 
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operations review

The prospective resources on the flanks of the Kurdamir structure below 2,312 metres were estimated, 
independently, either as gas and condensate or as oil:

•	 If	the	Tertiary	reservoirs	on	the	flank	of	the	Kurdamir	structure	contain	gas	and	condensate	only,	
the estimated range of undiscovered gas initially-in-place is from 371 BCF to 1,032 BCF, and the 
estimated range of gross unrisked prospective resources is from 180 BCF to 609 BCF of gas and 
from 8 MMBBL to 25 MMBBL of condensate.

•	 Alternatively,	if	the	Tertiary	reservoirs	on	the	flank	of	the	structure	contain	oil	only,	the	estimated	
range is from 164 MMBBL to 508 MMBBL of gross undiscovered oil initially-in-place and from  
32 MMBBL to 207 MMBBL of gross unrisked prospective oil resources (recoverable).

•	 These	prospective	 resources,	whether	gas	and	condensate	or	oil,	would	be	 in	addition	 to	any	
hydrocarbons that may be discovered in the deeper Cretaceous reservoir targets.

Understanding the resource assessment

The tables on the facing page present the complete resource assessment of the Kurdamir-1 discovery 
in the Tertiary Interval as audited by Sproule. In all our exploration work, we seek to progress from 
identifying prospective resources, to confirming contingent resources, and ultimately to producing 
reserves. Basic explanations of these terms are presented below; full notes to these tables are presented 
in our material change report issued November 25, 2009 and available on the WesternZagros website, 
or at www.sedar.com.  

Discovered gas initially-in-place is that quantity of gas that is estimated, as of a given date, to be contained 
in known accumulations prior to production. The recoverable portion of discovered gas initially-in-
place includes production, reserves and contingent resources; the remainder is unrecoverable.

Contingent resources are those quantities of petroleum estimated, as of a given date, to be 
potentially recoverable from known accumulations using established technology or technology under 
development, but which are not currently considered to be commercially recoverable due to one or 
more contingencies. Contingent resources have an associated chance of development (economic, 
regulatory, market and facility, corporate commitment or political risks). These estimates have not 
been risked for the chance of development. There is no certainty that it will be commercially viable to 
produce any portion of the contingent resources.

Undiscovered oil or gas initially-in-place is that quantity of petroleum that is estimated, as of a given 
date, to be contained in accumulations yet to be discovered. The recoverable portion of the undiscovered 
petroleum initially-in-place is referred to as prospective resources, the remainder is unrecoverable.

Prospective resources are those quantities of petroleum estimated, as of a given date, to be potentially 
recoverable from undiscovered accumulations by application of future development projects. 
Prospective resources have both an associated chance of discovery (geological chance of success) 
and a chance of development (economic, regulatory, market and facility, corporate commitment or 
political risks). These estimates have not been risked for either the chance of discovery or the chance 
of development. There is no certainty that any portion of the prospective resources will be discovered. 
If discovered, there is no certainty that it will be commercially viable to produce any portion of the 
prospective resources.
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operations review

Table 1

Kurdamir-1 Tertiary Gross Unrisked Contingent Resources
Gas and Condensate
(As of November 23, 2009)

Low Estimate
P90

Best Estimate
P50

High Estimate
P10

Mean Estimate

Gas Initially-  
In-Place

635 847 1,098 856

Gas (BCF) 379 523 696 532

Condensate 
(MMBBL)

13 21 32 22

Table 2

Kurdamir-1 Tertiary Gross Unrisked Undiscovered and Prospective Resources
If Gas and Condensate Only
(As of November 23, 2009)

Low Estimate
P90

Best Estimate
P50

High Estimate
P10

Mean Estimate

Undiscovered 
Gas Initially-In-
Place

371 692 1,032 699

Gas (BCF) 180 363 609 381

Condensate 
(MMBBL)

8 15 25 16

Table 3

Kurdamir-1 Tertiary Gross Unrisked Resources
If Oil Only
(As of November 23, 2009)

Low Estimate
P90

Best Estimate
P50

High Estimate
P10

Mean Estimate

Undiscovered 
Oil Initially-In-
Place (MMBBL) 

164 328 508 333

Gross Unrisked 
Prospective 
Resources Oil 
(MMBBL) 

32 100 207 112
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The Company’s material change report filed on SEDAR at www.sedar.com and dated November 25, 
2009 includes additional information on Sproule’s audit process, explanations of the resource estimate 
ranges, risks and levels of uncertainty associated with the recovery of the resources, the significant 
positive and negative factors relevant to the estimates and, in respect of the contingent resources, the 
specific contingencies which prevent the classification of the resources as reserves.

Lessons learned from Sarqala-1

Our first wildcat exploration well in the Kurdistan Region, Sarqala-1, was spudded in May 2008 and 
suspended in March 2009, after drilling to a total depth of 4,357 metres. We encountered many 
challenges during our drilling program at Sarqala-1, yet we view the experience as a distinct success 
with respect to what we learned and were able to apply to future drilling operations.

In particular, at Sarqala-1 we were faced with zones of extreme overpressure. We needed to monitor 
and adjust our operations continually in order to mitigate the associated risk. We are able to apply the 
experience we gained at Sarqala-1 directly to Kurdamir-1 and future wells with respect to contingency 
casing, as well as to mud products and densities.

As a result of the Sarqala-1 experience, we have also fine-tuned and improved our overall planning 
and logistics in order to avoid delays during subsequent drilling programs, should they prove to be as 
challenging. We identified areas in our organization that needed additional support, and have since 
strengthened our in-country presence by adding mud specialists, experienced operations geologists 
and drilling engineers. At Kurdamir-1, despite the additional precautions taken and success in the upper 
zones, we did encounter high pressures in the Gulneri seal, requiring well control operations that were 
recently completed as this report was going to press. We have tremendous confidence and pride in 
the ability of our operations team to overcome the technical challenges inherent when drilling these 
complex geological structures. 

The lessons learned at both Sarqala-1 and Kurdamir-1 are invaluable as we begin planning for our next 
well. The choice of location will be based on the drilling results achieved in both the Tertiary and the 
Cretaceous in Kurdamir-1 and the significant enhancements made through reprocessing of our seismic 
data and the subsequent remapping of our most promising prospects. We are also continuously 
improving our processes for preliminary drilling preparation, including procuring long lead time items 
and identifying and preparing potential drilling locations.

Seismic program

In 2009 WesternZagros reprocessed 874 kilometres of our original 2D seismic data on Block 44. 
Reprocessing of 25 lines has significantly improved the quality of the original seismic data, permitting 
better prospect definition and mapping. Results will be incorporated into a revised Block 44 prospective 
resource assessment to be conducted in 2010 after we complete the testing on the Kurdamir-1 well. 
Reprocessing of three lines over Kurdamir-1 in 2009 enabled us to predict with better precision the 
magnitude of formation pressures encountered at all but the deepest intervals in the Kurdamir-1 well 
and to optimize casing design and depth placement.

operations review
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Health, safety, environment and security

Our safety record for 2009 continued to be exemplary, with four million person hours without a lost 
time incident. We are extremely proud of this accomplishment that is a testament to the importance 
WesternZagros places on the safety of the people involved in our operations. Similar to 2008, we were 
able to maintain our commitment to safety while in full operations mode, as we concluded one drilling 
program at Sarqala-1, commenced drilling operations at Kurdamir-1, and transported all the related 
equipment and materials.

WesternZagros has a robust Emergency and Security Response Plan in place that meets stringent 
Canadian standards. In fact, we have voluntarily adopted western and international standards for 
our entire health, safety, environment and security program in the Kurdistan Region. The safety and 
security of our employees and contractors is paramount.

We continue to believe that the Kurdistan Region offers the safest operating environment within Iraq. 
The Kurdistan Regional Government has amply demonstrated its ability to secure the region’s borders.

WesternZagros maintains a healthy relationship with the regional and local governments, largely 
through our adherence to a professional and respectful approach. We strive to demonstrate through our 
actions that we are communicative and responsive, and that we follow through on our commitments. In 
return, we are able to operate with governments who view us as a valuable and reliable partner.

Corporate social responsibility

We believe we are privileged to be able to operate in the Kurdistan Region, and we are committed 
to integrating our operations with the local communities in order to provide direct benefits from  
our activity. 

In 1988, during the genocidal Anfal campaign of the regime of Saddam Hussein, the people of the 
Kurdistan Region faced atrocities so severe that their long history came close to ending. The death 
and destruction was of such magnitude that the region is still struggling to rebuild. The people of the 
Kurdistan Region have made significant progress and WesternZagros is fully engaged in activities to 
aid their civil and social redevelopment.

WesternZagros completed a needs assessment of the population within our Production Sharing 
Contract area in 2008, which identified areas of priority for the region. These included water supply, 
health care and education.

operations review
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Water supply and management

The Garmian area, within which we operate, receives less than 300 millimetres (12 inches) of rainfall per 
year on average. This has been exacerbated in recent years by drought, with less than 150 millimetres 
(six inches) of rainfall in many areas resulting in dry wells and surface water sources, and a low water 
table. The region experiences high temperatures during the summer, often over 50 degrees Celsius  
(122° F), which increases the demand for water and hastens the evaporation of existing water sources.

Access to potable water is therefore a high-priority need. In support of this priority, WesternZagros 
has drilled new water wells, repaired existing wells, built water supply pipelines and water sanitation 
facilities, provided training on water treatment and sanitation, and constructed sumps and pits that 
provide access to water for livestock.

Health care

Improving the Kurdistan Region health care infrastructure is a second priority area. Over the past two 
years, we have funded multiple diagnosis clinics and donated medical supplies to local hospitals and 
village clinics.

Education

We have identified access to education as a third priority, in particular because the region’s educational 
infrastructure has suffered. We have repaired existing schools, donated computers and supplies, and 
supported the local government’s program to expand and replace schools.

As part of our efforts to engage local professionals in our operations, we are working with the 
University of Sulaimaniya and the Kurdish Regional Government to enhance professional development 
for geologists through field studies and training, and for Kurdish public service leaders through 
technical training courses. We have also provided well-site geology and comprehensive industry 
training programs for over 250 local participants, including a Petroleum Industry Regulatory Affairs 
Program in Calgary.

In addition to addressing these areas of critical need, we have also carried out road improvements 
in our operating area and contributed to the region’s economic development by providing the water 
supply and infrastructure to grow cash crops. Finally, in late 2009, we sponsored the WesternZagros 
Challenge Cup Youth Soccer Tournament for eight teams in the Garmian region. The event was a 
tremendous success, and we were grateful for the warm and gracious response from the community 
towards our efforts. We learned that corporate social responsibility is not only what we can give to the 
community, but the rewards we receive in return.

operations review
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“Success to us means more than drilling success –  

it means maintaining safe operations, demonstrating local 

community benefit, and ensuring environmental protection. 

Our Kurdistan team strives to build and maintain 

WesternZagros’ strong operator reputation in all our 

business activities and interactions throughout the region.”

– Ian McIntosh, Vice President, Kurdistan Business Unit
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“Our strong balance sheet and approach to financing 

enabled WesternZagros to weather the global recession  

and to fund our complex drilling operations. We are 

confident in our ability to access further financing as we 

begin to establish contingent resources and as global energy 

markets improve.”

– Greg Stevenson, Chief Financial Officer

16 WesternZagros Resources Ltd.

Greg Stevenson
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This Management’s Discussion and Analysis (“MD & A”) of the financial and operating results for 

WesternZagros Resources Ltd. (“WesternZagros” or the “Company”) should be read in conjunction with 

the Company’s audited consolidated financial statements (the “Annual Financial Statements”) and related 

notes for the years ended December 31, 2009 and 2008.

Additional information relating to the Company, including its quarterly MD & A for the year is available on 

SEDAR at www.sedar.com

This MD & A is dated February 22, 2010.

Basis of presentation

The financial data presented below has been prepared in accordance with Canadian generally accepted 
accounting principles (“GAAP”) and is based on an assumption that the Company will continue as a 
going concern. In assessing whether the going concern assumption is appropriate, management takes 
into account all available information about the future, which is at least, but is not limited to, twelve 
months from December 31, 2009. 

The reporting and functional currency of the Company is the United States (“U.S.”) dollar. All references 
herein to US$ or to $ are to United States dollars and references herein to Cdn$ are to Canadian dollars.

Forward-looking information

This discussion offers management’s analysis of the financial and operating results of WesternZagros 
and contains certain forward-looking statements relating, but not limited, to operational information, 
future drilling plans and testing programs and the timing associated therewith, estimated Production 
Sharing Contract commitments (“PSC”), anticipated capital and operating budgets, anticipated 
working capital and estimated costs. Forward-looking information typically contains statements with 
words such as “anticipate”, “estimate”, “expect”, “potential”, “could”, or similar words suggesting future 
outcomes. The Company cautions readers and prospective investors in the Company’s securities to not 
place undue reliance on forward-looking information as, by its nature, it is based on current expectations 
regarding future events that involve a number of assumptions, inherent risks and uncertainties, which 
could cause actual results to differ materially from those anticipated by WesternZagros. 

Forward-looking information is based on management’s current expectations and assumptions 
regarding, among other things, plans for and results of drilling activity, future capital and other 
expenditures (including the amount, nature and sources of funding thereof), future economic 
conditions, future currency and exchange rates, continued political stability, timely receipt of any 
necessary government or regulatory approvals, the Company’s continued ability to employ qualified 
staff and to obtain equipment in a timely and cost efficient manner, the continued participation of the 
Company’s co-venture partners in exploration activities and the timely receipt of insurance proceeds. 
In addition, budgets are based upon WesternZagros’ current exploration plans and anticipated costs 
both of which are subject to change based on, among other things, the actual results of drilling 
activity, unexpected delays and changes in market conditions. Although the Company believes the 
expectations and assumptions reflected in such forward-looking information are reasonable, they may 
prove to be incorrect. Forward-looking information involves significant known and unknown risks and 
uncertainties. A number of factors could cause actual results to differ materially from those anticipated 
by WesternZagros including, but not limited to, risks associated with the oil and gas industry (e.g. 
operational risks in exploration; inherent uncertainties in interpreting geological data; changes in plans 

Management’s discussion and analysis
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with respect to exploration or capital expenditures; interruptions in operations together with any 
associated insurance proceedings; the uncertainty of estimates and projections in relation to costs 
and expenses and health, safety and environmental risks), the risk of commodity price and foreign 
exchange rate fluctuations, the uncertainty associated with negotiating with foreign governments and 
risk associated with international activity. 

In addition, statements relating to “resources” are deemed to be forward-looking statements, as 
they involve the implied assessment, based on certain estimates and assumptions, that the resources 
described can be profitably produced in the future. Terms related to resource classifications referred 
to herein are based on the definitions and guidelines in the Canadian Oil and Gas Evaluation 
Handbook. Contingent resources are those quantities of petroleum estimated, as of a given date, to be 
potentially recoverable from known accumulations using established technology or technology under 
development, but which are not currently considered to be commercially recoverable due to one or more 
contingencies. Contingent resources have an associated chance of development (economic, regulatory, 
market and facility, corporate commitment or political risks). The estimates referred to herein have not 
been risked for the chance of development. There is no certainty that the contingent resources will 
be developed and, if developed, there is no certainty as to the timing of such development or that it 
will be commercially viable to produce any portion of the contingent resources. Prospective resources 
are those quantities of petroleum estimated, as of a given date, to be potentially recoverable from 
undiscovered accumulations by application of future development projects. Prospective resources have 
both an associated chance of discovery (geological chance of success) and a chance of development 
(economic, regulatory, market and facility, corporate commitment or political risks). The chance of 
commerciality is the product of these two risk components. The estimates referred to herein have not 
been risked for either the chance of discovery or the chance of development. There is no certainty that 
any portion of the prospective resources will be discovered. If a discovery is made, there is no certainty 
that it will be developed or, if it is developed, there is no certainty as to the timing of such development 
or that it will be commercially viable to produce any portion of the prospective resources. 

Readers are cautioned that the forgoing list of important factors is not exhaustive. The forward-
looking statements contained in this MD & A are made as of the date of this MD & A and, except as 
required by law, WesternZagros does not undertake any obligation to update publicly or to revise any 
of the included forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or 
otherwise. The forward-looking statements contained in this MD & A are expressly qualified by this 
cautionary statement. See the Risk Factors section of this MD & A for a further description of these 
risks and uncertainties facing WesternZagros. 

Overview

WesternZagros is a publicly-traded, Calgary-based, international oil and gas company engaged in 
acquiring properties and exploring for, development of and producing crude oil and natural gas in 
Iraq. WesternZagros holds a PSC with the Kurdistan Regional Government (“KRG”) which covers 
a 2,120 square kilometer exploration block (the “Kalar – Bawanoor Block” or “PSC lands”) in the 
Kurdistan Region of Iraq and it is on trend with, and adjacent to, a number of prolific historic oil 
and gas discoveries. WesternZagros (operator) holds a 40 percent working interest, the KRG holds a 
20 percent working interest (carried by WesternZagros) and a wholly-owned subsidiary of Talisman 
Energy Inc. (“Talisman”) holds the remaining 40 percent working interest. 
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Strategy 

WesternZagros’ main focus is the exploration and development of its PSC lands. WesternZagros’ 
objective is to be recognized, through consistently superior business performance and operations 
excellence, as one of the leading junior oil and gas companies active in Iraq. The Company is committed 
to operating in the Kurdistan Region of Iraq in a safe and secure manner. In executing its strategy, 
WesternZagros has made it a priority to recruit and retain local personnel and to actively participate 
in, and contribute to, community development projects. WesternZagros believes it has developed 
a relationship with government authorities, local communities and the business community in the 
Kurdistan Region that has allowed the Company to gain access to opportunities and to obtain the 
cooperation needed to successfully execute projects. 

Highlights

WesternZagros’ highlights and activities to February 22, 2010 include the following.

Operations

•	 The	Company	spudded	the	Kurdamir-1	well	in	May	2009	and	reached	total	depth	of	4,077	metres	
in February 2010.

– Kurdamir-1 drilled first in the Tertiary interval to find a reservoir within the Oligocene 
formation and reservoir targets in the Pilaspi/Jaddala Formation, then in the Cretaceous 
interval to find reservoir targets within the Shiranish and Upper Qamchuqa Formations.

– The Company confirmed a significant hydrocarbon accumulation and the presence of a 
reservoir within the Oligocene formation in the Tertiary interval in November 2009. The 
discovery was made while drilling to an intermediate depth of 2,700 metres, penetrating 
the reservoir within the Oligocene formation and reservoir targets within the Pilaspi/
Jaddala Formation. 

– As drilling progressed through the Tertiary interval below the Oligocene formation, 
the Kurdamir-1 well encountered challenges related to wellbore instability in fractured 
carbonates. WesternZagros was able to overcome the challenge by undertaking two 
sidetrack operations, which allowed drilling to successfully reach intermediate depth. 

– The Company successfully completed logging, coring and two open-hole drill stem tests in 
the Tertiary interval. Combined test rates indicate approximately 27.5 million cubic feet per 
day of gas and 1,172 barrels per day of 61 degrees API natural gas liquids (condensate).

– Test rates were limited due to testing equipment restrictions; however, initial well test 
analysis conducted by an independent third party indicates that reservoir production 
potential of approximately 52 million cubic feet per day of gas and 2,240 barrels per day 
of condensate could be expected from these intervals. No formation water was recovered 
during the testing.

– WesternZagros completed a resource assessment on the Kurdamir-1 discovery, which was 
audited by Sproule International Ltd. As at November 23, 2009, the estimated range of gross 
unrisked contingent resources is from 379 billion cubic feet to 696 billion cubic feet of gas 
and from 13 million barrels to 32 million barrels of condensate. The contingent resources 
estimate was assigned across the crest of the Kurdamir structure down to a depth of 2,312 
metres, which is the lowest known gas in the Kurdamir-1 wellbore as determined by wireline 
logs. Sproule International Ltd. also audited an assessment of the prospective resources on 



20 WesternZagros Resources Ltd.

management’s discussion and analysis

the flanks of the structure. See WesternZagros’ Material Change Report dated November 
25, 2009 available at www.sedar.com.

– Due to the high formation pressures encountered at 4,077 metres, no deeper drilling 
will take place in the Kurdamir-1 well. Operations to control the high formation pressures 
encountered in the Gulneri Formation at 4,077 metres are ongoing. The Company has well 
control insurance in place and is currently pursuing a claim for the costs associated with 
the well control operations.

– Numerous oil and gas shows were encountered while drilling through the Cretaceous 
interval. Once well control operations are completed, the forward plan is to evaluate 
the numerous oil and gas shows encountered in the Aaliji and Shiranish Formations by 
conducting a cased hole testing program.

– As a result of drilling delays and additional evaluation and testing activities, gross costs 
for drilling Kurdamir-1 are expected to be approximately $85 million to $90 million, prior 
to the consideration of the insurance claim being pursued for the associated costs of the 
well control operations. The increased budget includes $15 million of incremental costs 
associated with these well control activities and $10 million for the incremental costs for 
the cased hole testing activities.

•	 WesternZagros	incorporated	key	learnings	from	Sarqala-1	into	the	Kurdamir-1	drilling	program	to	
identify and mitigate possible drilling issues that could be encountered while drilling Kurdamir-1. 
These included additional intermediate casing strings, additional drilling expertise and enhanced 
drilling mud properties for the operations. 

•	 As	of	March	31,	2009,	the	Company’s	best	estimate	of	gross	unrisked	prospective	oil	resources	
in Block 44 was 2.4 billion barrels. This estimate was audited by Sproule International Ltd. The 
resource estimate was completed after WesternZagros updated its inventory of prospects and 
leads, following the completion of its seismic program in 2008. See WesternZagros’ Material 
Change Report dated May 11, 2009 available at www.sedar.com.

•	 In	2009,	the	Company	reprocessed	874	kilometres	of	2D	seismic	data	on	Block	44.	This	reprocessing	
improved the quality of the original seismic data in order to better define and map prospects and to 
predict depths and formation pressures in potential drilling locations. The results were successfully 
used to predict pore pressures in the Kurdamir-1 well above the Gulneri Seal and will be incorporated 
into a revised Block 44 resource assessment to be conducted in 2010.

•	 In	December	2009,	WesternZagros’	operations	achieved	a	combined	total	of	four	million	person	
hours with no Lost Time Incidents (LTI). WesternZagros remains committed to the health and 
safety of all its employees and contractors as well as the security of its operations. 

Financial

•	 As	of	April	2009,	WesternZagros	completed	all	 its	Capacity	Building	Support	payments	to	the	
KRG required under its Production Sharing Contract.

•	 As	at	December	31,	2009,	WesternZagros	had	$67.4	million	in	working	capital.

•	 For	 the	year	 ended	December	31,	 2009,	WesternZagros’	 share	of	 capital	 expenditures	 for	 the	
year ended December 31, 2009 associated with its PSC activities and other capitalized costs 
were $54.4 million. Year to date expenditures for 2009 included $39.1 million of drilling-related 
costs; $0.7 million of geological and geosciences related work; $3.4 million of supervision and  
local office costs; $10.8 million of PSC related expenditures; and $0.4 million of corporate  
related expenditures.
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Corporate

•	 During	2009,	 the	Board	of	Directors	of	WesternZagros	appointed	Mr.	Simon	Hatfield	as	Chief	
Executive Officer and Mr. Greg Stevenson as Chief Financial Officer. 

•	 In	 January	 2010,	Mr.	 Ian	McIntosh	was	 appointed	 to	 the	 position	 of	 Vice	 President,	 Kurdistan	
Business Unit. Mr. McIntosh will be resident in the Kurdistan Region of Iraq.

Political

•	 Recent	 events	 in	 the	 Kurdistan	 Region,	 including	 the	 export	 of	 oil	 and	 the	 election	 process,	
demonstrate that the Kurdistan Regional Government is firmly committed to the democratic 
and economic development of the Region. WesternZagros continues to monitor and assess the 
political developments in Iraq including progress on the Federal Petroleum Law, payment of 
revenues associated with oil exports from the Kurdistan Region, the state of the capital markets, 
and exploration activities prior to deploying future capital beyond its PSC commitments.

Corporate social responsibility

•	 During	 2009,	WesternZagros	 and	 its	 co-venturers	 continued	 to	 focus	 on	 three	 key	 corporate	
social responsibility initiatives in the Garmian region of Kurdistan - water supply, education and 
health care. In particular, during the peak of the drought, CSR activities focused extensively on 
providing potable water to villages near Kurdamir-1 and elsewhere within the PSC block. 

•	 In	 2009,	 WesternZagros	 constructed	 a	 six-kilometre	 pipeline	 to	 the	 Kurdamir	 village	 and	
subsequently installed a water storage and distribution system for the village, in addition to 
replacing and repairing the generator and pumping systems at the water treatment plant. 

•	 Throughout	2009,	WesternZagros	delivered	medical	supplies	to	the	clinic	in	Hazi	Kani,	a	village	
in the northern part of the PSC operating block. The clinic is the main centre for health care for 
many surrounding villages, yet they lack the basic supplies to operate effectively. WesternZagros 
provided sufficient supplies so that they can continue to treat patients regularly.

•	 Many	of	 the	 schools	 in	 the	PSC	operating	area	 lack	basic	 school	 supplies	 such	as	notebooks,	
paper, pens and pencils. In December 2009, WesternZagros donated over 300 kits containing 
various school supplies to children in 14 schools in the operating area. 

Financial performance

Selected Annual Information

US $(000s), unless otherwise specified 2009 2008 2007

Total Revenue 184 2,959 817

Net Loss 5,491 10,100 10,426

Net Loss Per Share (US$ Per Share) 0.03 0.05 0.06

(Basic and Diluted) 

Capital Expenditures 54,356 95,102 34,556

Total Assets 241,077 243,697 160,777

Total Long-term Liabilities 175 69 –

Dividends (US$ Per Share) Nil Nil Nil

 financial performance
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General and administrative expenses

For the year ended December 31, 2009, WesternZagros expensed $6.3 million in general and 
administrative expenses (“G&A”), compared to $7.3 million for the prior year, and capitalized $3.2 
million of G&A compared to $2.1 million in 2008. The amounts capitalized that are directly related to 
the supervision of the Company’s drilling and geological capital programs increased as a result of a 
full year of drilling operations occurring during 2009, which also resulted in the decrease in expensed 
G&A during 2009 compared to 2008. 

Depreciation, depletion and amortization (DD&A)

For the year ended December 31, 2009, WesternZagros had $0.7 million depreciation related to certain 
administrative assets, compared to $0.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2008. The increase 
in depreciation is related to the addition of assets in late 2008 and in 2009 which are now being 
depreciated. No depletion on oil and gas related assets is recorded because WesternZagros has yet to 
determine whether proved reserves are attributable to the PSC lands.

Stock based compensation

The Company recognized stock based compensation expense for all stock options granted. For the 
year ended December 31, 2009, WesternZagros recorded $1.9 million in stock based compensation 
expense and $0.5 million in the capitalized G&A, with a corresponding increase to contributed surplus, 
for stock options granted. For the year ended December 31, 2008, WesternZagros recorded $1.9 million 
in stock-based compensation expense, and $0.7 million in capitalized G&A.

Foreign exchange

WesternZagros adopted the U.S. dollar as its measurement and reporting currency since the majority 
of its expenses are or will be directly or indirectly denominated in U.S. dollars and to facilitate a 
more direct comparison to other international crude oil and natural gas exploration and development 
companies. WesternZagros holds over 95 percent of its cash and cash equivalents in U.S. dollar accounts 
and U.S. dollar priced Government of Canada bonds; however, the Company has certain assets and 
liabilities in currencies other than the U.S. dollar, mainly Canadian dollars, and converts these to U.S. 
dollars at the end of each period resulting in foreign exchange gains and losses. The Canadian dollar 
balances are held for the purpose of funding WesternZagros’ Canadian dollar expenditures, which are 
mainly related to the costs associated with general and administrative costs for its head office and 
certain drilling related services and tangibles procured from Canadian suppliers. For the year ended 
December 31, 2009, WesternZagros recorded a foreign exchange loss of $0.01 million relating to these 
conversions, compared to a $1.4 million foreign exchange loss for the year ended December 31, 2008.

Income taxes

For the year ended December 31, 2009, WesternZagros had an income tax recovery of $1.3 million 
comprised of $1.7 million of current income tax recovery and reduced by $0.4 million of future income tax 
expense. The current tax recovery relates to the expected recovery of taxes incurred in 2008 on realized 
foreign exchange gains and losses in WesternZagros’ wholly-owned Canadian subsidiary through the 
utilization of loss carry forwards and the associated G&A costs incurred by the subsidiary. 
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Revenue

WesternZagros’ revenue is comprised entirely of interest earned on cash and cash equivalents and 
short-term investment balances. Interest of $0.2 million was earned for the year ended December 
31, 2009, compared to $3.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2008. The decrease in revenue 
resulted from a decrease in cash and cash equivalents and short-term investment balances as the 
Company progressed on exploration activities and from lower average interest rates received on the 
cash and cash equivalents during the year. 

Net Loss

For the year ended December 31, 2009, WesternZagros recorded a net loss of $5.5 million compared 
to $10.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2008. WesternZagros is an early stage exploration 
enterprise and, apart from its working interest in the PSC and cash and cash equivalents, the Company 
has no other significant assets. The decrease in net loss resulted from an income tax recovery during 
2009 compared to an income tax expense in 2008, and from reduced expensed G&A and foreign 
exchange losses, partially offset by the decrease in interest earned on cash and cash equivalents and 
increased depreciation expense during 2009.

Capital expenditures

For the year ended December 31, 2009, the total capital expenditures on the Kalar-Bawanoor Block were 
$73.3 million, including $65.1 million of drilling related costs, $1.1 million of geological and geosciences 
related work (reprocessing and interpretation of seismic data), $5.7 million of supervision and local 
office costs in support of drilling operations and $1.4 million of PSC related expenditures. Included in the 
drilling costs were $46.6 million for operations at Kurdamir-1, $11.5 million for operations at Sarqala-1, and 
$7.0 million for long lead items, consumables and pre spud costs for subsequent wells. 

For the year ended December 31, 2008, the total capital expenditures on the Kalar-Bawanoor Block 
were $79.1 million, including $49.4 million of drilling related costs, $16.7 million associated with Phase 
II seismic operations, $9.2 million of supervision and local office costs in support of both drilling and 
seismic operations and $3.8 million of PSC related expenditures. Included in the drilling costs were $37.3 
million for operations at Sarqala-1, $5.4 million for long lead items and pre spud costs for Kurdamir-1 
and $6.7 million for tangible items for subsequent wells and consumables for testing operations. As at 
December 31, 2009, gross well costs for Kurdamir-1 have totalled $53.1 million and for Sarqala-1 have 
totalled $48.8 million.

WesternZagros’ share of capital expenditures for the year ended December 31, 2009 associated with 
its PSC activities and other capitilized costs was $54.4 million. Capital expenditures for 2009 included 
$39.1 million of drilling related costs; $0.7 million of geological and geosciences related work; $3.4 
million of related field office and supervision costs; $10.8 million for annual PSC payments and the 
remaining amounts owing under the capacity building bonus, which WesternZagros completed paying 
in April 2009; and $0.4 million of corporate related expenditures.

WesternZagros’ share of capital expenditures for the year ended December 31, 2008 associated with 
its PSC activities and other PSC costs was $95.1 million. WesternZagros’ share of capital expenditures 
was 100 percent of costs to June 30, 2008, prior to the allocation of the 40 percent third party working 
interest to Talisman by the KRG, and 60 percent of the costs subsequent to June 30, 2008, representing 
WesternZagros’ 40 percent working interest and its obligation to fund the KRG’s 20 percent working 
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interest. Upon the allocation of the 40 percent working interest to Talisman, Talisman paid $50.7 million 
to WesternZagros, representing 50 percent of the estimated recoverable costs under the PSC at June 
30, 2008, as per the terms of the PSC.

The decrease in capital expenditures from 2008 to 2009 mainly relates to the completion of the 
capacity building support payments under the PSC in April 2009 and the reduced funding requirement 
for WesternZagros associated with the operations on the PSC block after Talisman acquired its working 
interest at the end of June 2008. 

WesternZagros capitalized $3.2 million of G&A expenses, including $0.5 million of stock-based 
compensation, for the year ended December 31, 2009, compared to $2.1 million of G&A expenses, 
including $0.7 million of stock-based compensation, for the year ended December 31, 2008.

Quarterly information 

The following table summarizes key financial information on a quarterly basis for the 2009 and 2008 
fiscal periods:

    Year Ended   Three Month Period Ended

    Dec. 31, Dec. 31, Sep 30, June 30, March 31, 
    2009 2009 2009 2009 2009

Revenue   184 32 36 35 81

Net Loss   5,491 1,035 2,712 1,404 340

Net Loss Per Share (US$ Per Share)  0.026 0.005 0.013 0.006 0.002

(Basic and Fully Diluted)  

Capital Expenditures  54,356 11,250 11,456 14,796 16,854

Total Assets   241,077 241,077 241,600 241,171 239,288

Total Long-term Liabilities  175 175 171 197 71

Dividend (US$ per Share)  Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil

    Year Ended   Three Month Period Ended

    Dec. 31, Dec. 31, Sep 30, June 30, March 31,
    2008 2008 2008 2008 2008

Revenue   2,959 495 867 774 823

Net Loss   10,100 6,653 984 633 1,830

Net Loss Per Share (US$ Per Share)  0.05 0.030 0.005 0.005 0.010

(Basic and Fully Diluted)  

Capital Expenditures  95,102 20,339 20,531 27,648 26,584

Total Assets   243,697 243,697 248,919 241,692 251,068

Total Long-term Liabilities  69 69 68 66 –

Dividend (US$ per Share)  Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil
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Fourth quarter

In the fourth quarter of 2009, WesternZagros had a net loss of $1.0 million compared to a net loss of 
$6.7 million in the fourth quarter of 2008. The decrease in net loss is mainly due to the recognition of 
an income tax recovery in the fourth quarter of 2009 compared to an income tax expense in the fourth 
quarter of 2008 and to a decreased foreign exchange loss in the fourth quarter of 2009 compared to 
the fourth quarter of 2008. 

WesternZagros’ capital expenditures totaled $11.3 million in the fourth quarter of 2009 compared to 
$20.3 million in the fourth quarter of 2008. This decrease is primarily due to payment of a portion of the 
capacity building bonus due under the PSC in the fourth quarter of 2008, compared to no payment in 
the fourth quarter of 2009 since the capacity building bonus payments were completed in April 2009.

Production sharing contract – summary

Under the terms of its PSC, WesternZagros has a 40 percent working interest and the KRG has a 
20 percent interest in the PSC which is carried by WesternZagros. The remaining 40 percent was 
allocated to Talisman in June 2008 by the KRG. WesternZagros, the KRG and Talisman are collectively 
the “Contractor Group” under the PSC. WesternZagros is the operator of the PSC lands until the end 
of the first operating sub-period of the PSC, when a Joint Operating Company may be established if 
so elected by the Contractor Group. 

Production sharing contract – commercial terms

Under the PSC, the sharing of oil occurs as follows: of the total oil produced, operations oil is available 
to WesternZagros for use in carrying out its obligations under the PSC; the remaining oil is subject to 
a 10 percent royalty payable to the KRG (the residual is considered to be “net available oil”). The net 
available oil is determined on a development by development basis. Up to 45 percent of the net available 
oil is available for cost recovery with the remainder as “profit oil.” Costs subject to cost recovery include 
all costs and expenditures incurred by the Contractor Group for exploration, development, production 
and decommissioning operations, as well as any other costs and expenditures incurred directly or 
indirectly with these activities. The portion of profit oil available to the Contractor Group is based 
on a sliding scale from 35 percent to 16 percent depending on a calculated R-Factor. The R-Factor is 
established by reference to the ratio of cumulative revenues over cumulative costs. When the ratio 
is below one, the Contractor Group is entitled to 35 percent of the profit oil. The percentage is then 
reduced on a linear sliding scale to a minimum of 16 percent at an R-Factor ratio of two or greater. 

The production sharing terms for natural gas are the same as the oil production share terms except for the 
net available gas available for cost recovery is 55 percent and the profit sharing component. For natural 
gas, the portion of profit natural gas available for the Contractor Group is based on a sliding scale from 40 
percent to 20 percent depending on a calculated R-factor. The R-Factor is established by reference to the 
ratio of the Contractor Group’s cumulative revenue over cumulative costs. When the R-Factor is below one, 
the Contractor Group is entitled to 40 percent of the profit oil. The Contractor Group’s percentage is then 
reduced on a linear scale to a minimum of 20 percent at a ratio of 2.75 or greater.
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Production

Pursuant to the terms of the PSC, WesternZagros maintains the right to market its share of oil on the 
world market. There is an obligation under the PSC to make oil production available to meet regional 
market demand. The price of such oil is a market-based oil price based on a basket of crudes. The 
price for natural gas is based on local commercial value and Iraq tariffs. Currently, no markets exist for 
natural gas within Iraq and there is no infrastructure for export.

Contract obligations and commitments 

The PSC contemplates two exploration sub-periods of three years and two years, respectively, with 
two possible one-year extensions. The first exploration sub-period ends December 31, 2010. During 
such time the Contractor Group (WesternZagros, the KRG and Talisman) is required to complete a 
minimum of 1,150 kilometres of seismic surveying, which has been completed; drill three exploration 
wells; and commit a minimum of $75 million in the aggregate on these activities. At the end of the 
first exploration sub-period, WesternZagros and the other parties to the PSC may relinquish the entire 
contract area, other than any discovery or development areas; continue further exploration operations 
by entering into the second exploration sub-period; or request to use a one-year extension for further 
exploration and appraisal activities prior to deciding to enter into the second exploration sub-period. 

The PSC also includes capacity building support payments, which concluded in April 2009, and annual 
funding for certain technological, logistical, recruitment and training during the first exploration sub-
period, and any subsequent sub-periods. To meet its remaining commitments for the first exploration 
sub-period, WesternZagros estimates expenditures of approximately $40 million to $45 million, prior 
to the costs of any testing, if required. This represents the Company’s 60 percent funding requirement 
and includes the remaining costs associated with drilling Kurdamir-1; one additional exploration 
commitment well by December 31, 2010, which is the end of the first exploration sub-period; and the 
associated supervision and local office costs in support of drilling operations. 

WesternZagros, on behalf of the Contractor Group, has made application to the KRG to extend the first 
exploration sub-period for a period of 12 months, i.e. to December 31, 2011, in order to allow sufficient time 
to analyze the results of the Kurdamir-1 cased hole testing program prior to the commencement of future 
exploration activities. Possibilities currently being analyzed for future exploration activities include:

1. drilling a well on the flank of the Kurdamir Structure to determine if the Oligocene Reservoir is oil 
bearing or gas-condensate bearing.

2. contracting an alternative rig to allow for greater flexibility in drilling to the reservoir targets for 
the third exploration commitment well.

The response to the application is expected from the KRG following the final results of the cased hole 
testing program are known. 

During the second exploration sub-period, the Contractor Group, or those parties that have elected 
to participate in further exploration, are required to complete a minimum of 575 kilometres of seismic 
surveying, drill at least two exploration wells and commit a minimum of $35 million on these activities. 
At the end of the second exploration sub-period, WesternZagros, and the other parties to the PSC who 
have elected to participate in the second exploration sub-period, may relinquish the entire contract 
area (other than any discovery or development areas) or continue further exploration and appraisal 
operations into the extension periods subject to the following relinquishment requirements. At the end 
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of the second exploration sub-period, and at the end of each subsequent extension period, the PSC 
requires WesternZagros, and other parties who have elected to participate, to relinquish 25 percent 
of the remaining undeveloped area within the PSC lands or the entire contract area (other than any 
discovery or development areas).

WesternZagros has entered into various exploration related contracts, including contracts for drilling 
equipment, services and tangibles. The following table summarizes the commitments WesternZagros 
has under these exploration related contracts and other contractual obligations.

For the year ended December 31

(United States $000s) 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014+ Total

Exploration  1,260 – – – – 1,260

Office  140 – – – – 140

Total  1,400 – – – – 1,400

Third party obligations and commitments 

The Company has granted rights to certain participants to acquire an aggregate working interest equal 
to five percent of WesternZagros’ interest, and subject to the same terms as WesternZagros’ interest. 
Certain portions of the participation interest may be funded by interest bearing loans granted by 
WesternZagros. 

Off balance sheet arrangement

The Company does not presently utilize any off balance sheet arrangements to enhance its liquidity 
and capital resource positions, or for any other purpose. During the period ended December 31, 2009, 
WesternZagros did not enter into any off balance sheet transactions.

Related party transactions

Included in accounts receivable is a loan to a senior officer of $0.2 million, the loan is non-interest 
bearing and matures on December 31, 2010. This transaction has been recorded at the exchange 
amount, which is the amount of consideration established and agreed to by the related party.

Outlook 2010

WesternZagros’ operational activities in 2010 will focus on the testing of the reservoir targets in the 
Cretaceous interval at Kurdamir-1; the evaluation of the commercial potential and technical feasibility 
of the gas and condensate discovered at Kurdamir-1 in the Tertiary interval together with any additional 
discoveries yet to be made; the evaluation of drilling alternatives to evaluate the flanks of the Kurdamir 
structure to determine both the presence and nature of fluids present (oil, gas and condensate, water 
or a combination thereof) on the flanks; and the final selection, design, procurement of required goods 
and services and drilling of the third exploration commitment well. In 2010, WesternZagros will also 
continue to assess additional investment opportunities beyond its PSC on the Kalar-Bawanoor Block.

WesternZagros and its co-venturers, Talisman and the KRG, have not yet decided the next operation 
to be conducted on the PSC lands, as they await the completion of the cased hole testing program at 
Kurdamir-1 and the decision of the KRG with respect to the extension application to extend the first 
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exploration sub-period. WesternZagros is continuing to monitor and assess the political developments 
in Iraq including the results of the Federal elections in Iraq held in March 2010; progress on the Federal 
Petroleum Law and the ability to export oil and natural gas from the Kurdistan Region of Iraq in 
accordance with the economic terms under the PSC; the state of the capital markets; and the results 
of its exploration activities prior to deploying future capital beyond those costs associated with the 
testing of Kurdamir-1. 

An initial capital and operating budget for 2010 of $43 million has been approved by the WesternZagros 
Board of Directors. This includes the Company’s 60 percent share of the anticipated costs to drill and 
test the Kurdamir-1 well, certain geological and geophysical studies for PSC lands, certain long lead 
items and planning costs associated with the third commitment well, and supervision and local office 
costs in support of drilling operations, as well as the corporate G&A and related expenditures for fiscal 
2010. This capital and operating budget does not include the costs associated with either drilling the 
third commitment well or any potential wells to evaluate the flanks of the Kurdamir structure, as the 
timing of these operations has not yet been determined. 

Liquidity and capital resources

WesternZagros is currently exploring for crude oil and natural gas in the Kurdistan Region of Iraq and 
currently has no reserves, production or operational cash flows. WesternZagros’ revenue is comprised 
entirely of interest earned on cash and cash equivalent balances and short-term investments. 
WesternZagros invests its cash and cash equivalents and short-term investments with major Canadian 
financial institutions with investment grade credit ratings and in Government of Canada instruments. 
This is in accordance with a Board of Directors approved Investment Policy with respect to investing 
funds. WesternZagros has no outstanding bank debt or other interest bearing indebtedness as at 
December 31, 2009.

At December 31, 2009, WesternZagros had $67.4 million in working capital. This balance will be used to 
fund future capital expenditures including: the Company’s work commitments with respect to the first 
exploration sub-period; any further testing or appraisal activities the Company may undertake during 
this sub-period or under any extensions to this sub-period as allowed under the PSC; the requirement 
for WesternZagros to fund the KRG’s 20 percent carried interest; certain annual payments required 
under the PSC; G&A expenditures; and working capital requirements. Subsequent to December 31, 
2009, WesternZagros has initiated an insurance claim related to well control operations at Kurdamir-1. 
WesternZagros anticipates that the proceeds of this claim will cover a significant portion of the well 
control costs associated with Kurdamir-1 that were incurred after drilling into a high pressure formation 
in the Gulneri seal.

WesternZagros assesses its financing requirements and its ability to access debt or equity markets 
on an ongoing basis. This assessment considers the stage and success of the Company’s exploration 
activities; the current status of the disputed Federal Petroleum Law and the ability to export oil and 
natural gas from the Kurdistan Region of Iraq in accordance with the economic terms under the PSC; the 
continued participation of the Company’s co-venturers in the PSC activities; the status and anticipated 
timing of receipt of insurance proceeds; and financial market conditions. Currently, WesternZagros 
assesses that it has the financial resources to complete the remainder of its work commitments under 
the first sub-period of the PSC. However, any further exploration or appraisal work that is undertaken 
during the first sub-period beyond these commitments, any extension of the first sub-period combined 
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with further exploration or appraisal activites, any significant delay in the timing of the insurance claim 
or any change in the participation of the Company’s co-venturers in the PSC activities would require 
WesternZagros to access the equity markets sooner than anticipated.

While WesternZagros has seen improvements in financial market conditions, the Company will seek 
to maintain financial flexibility and will monitor and assess its financing requirements and ability to 
access the equity markets. It is possible that future global economic events and conditions may result 
in further volatility in the financial markets which, in turn, could negatively impact WesternZagros’ 
ability to access equity or debt markets in the future. In addition, the results of the Company’s 
exploration activities or any prolonged delay in the export of oil from the Kurdistan Region of Iraq 
in accordance with the economic terms under our PSC could negatively impact the ability to access 
equity or debt markets in the future. Any inability to access the equity or debt markets for sufficient 
capital, at acceptable terms, and within required timeframes, could have a material adverse effect on 
WesternZagros’ financial condition, results of operations and prospects. Further discussion on these 
risks can be found in the “Risk Factors” section of the MD & A.

Outstanding share data

As of the date of this MD & A, WesternZagros has the following securities outstanding:

•	 207,464,320	common	shares;	and

•	 13,007,334	stock	options.

Each stock option entitles the holder thereof to acquire one common share. The number of common 
shares reserved for issuance pursuant to options granted will not exceed 10 percent of the issued and 
outstanding common shares. As of the date of this MD & A, total stock options outstanding represents 
6.27 percent of the total issued and outstanding common shares.

Risk Factors

The oil and gas industry is very competitive and is subject to many risks. Many of these risks are outside 
of WesternZagros’ control. Management has identified certain other key risks and their potential impact 
on WesternZagros’ operations. Financial market instability in 2008 and early fiscal 2009 has impacted 
WesternZagros’ ability, and that of other exploration and development companies, to access equity or 
debt markets at all or with acceptable terms. For future capital requirements beyond the Company’s 
current financing capability, which consists of its cash and cash equivalents balances at December 31, 
2009, risks associated with the global economic conditions have increased significantly. 

Foreign activities

All of WesternZagros’ assets are located in the Kurdistan Region of Iraq. As such, WesternZagros is 
subject to political, economic, and other uncertainties, including, but not limited to, the uncertainty of 
negotiating with foreign governments; expropriation of property without fair compensation; adverse 
determinations or rulings by governmental authorities; changes in energy policies or in the personnel 
administering them; nationalization; currency fluctuations and devaluations; disputes between various 
levels of authorities; arbitrating and enforcing claims against entities that may claim sovereignty; 
authorities claiming jurisdiction; potential implementation of exchange controls and royalty and 
government take increases; and other risks arising out of foreign governmental sovereignty over the 
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areas in which WesternZagros’ operations are conducted, as well as risks of loss due to civil strife, acts 
of war, guerrilla activities and insurrections.

WesternZagros’ operations may be adversely affected by changes in government policies and legislation 
or social instability and other factors which are not within the control of WesternZagros including, among 
other things, adverse legislation in Iraq and/or the Kurdistan Region; a change in crude oil or natural 
gas pricing policy; the risks of war, terrorism, abduction, expropriation, nationalization, renegotiation or 
nullification of existing concessions and contracts; taxation policies; economic sanctions; the imposition 
of specific drilling obligations; and the development and abandonment of fields.

Political issues

The political and security situation in Iraq, outside the Kurdistan Region, is unsettled and volatile. The 
Kurdistan Region is the only “Region” of Iraq that is constitutionally established pursuant to the Iraq 
Constitution, which expressly recognizes the Kurdistan Region. The political issues of federalism and 
the autonomy of Regions in Iraq are matters about which there are major differences between the 
various political factions in Iraq. These differences could adversely impact WesternZagros’ interest in 
the Kurdistan Region.

Legislative issues

No federal Iraq legislation has yet been agreed to or enacted by the Iraq Council of Ministers and 
Council of Representatives to address the future organization of Iraq’s petroleum industry or the 
sharing of petroleum and other revenues within Iraq. Failure to enact legislation, or the enactment 
of federal legislation contradictory to Kurdistan Region legislation, could materially adversely impact 
WesternZagros’ interest in the Kurdistan Region and the PSC. Disagreements have been reported 
to exist between the Iraq Minister of Oil and officials of the KRG in relation to the terms of the draft 
Federal Petroleum Law and the ability to export oil and natural gas from the Kurdistan Region of Iraq 
in accordance with the economic terms under the PSC. Certain officials of the federal Iraq government 
have also expressed an opinion that the Kurdistan Regional Oil & Gas Law is invalid.

Exploration, development and production risks

Oil and natural gas operations involve many risks which even a combination of experience, knowledge 
and careful evaluation may not be able to overcome. The long-term commercial success of 
WesternZagros depends on its ability to find, appraise, develop and commercially produce oil and 
natural gas resources and reserves, and will depend not only on the Company’s ability to explore and 
develop any properties it may have from time to time, but also on its ability to select and acquire 
additional producing properties or prospects. No assurance can be given that WesternZagros will be 
able to locate satisfactory properties for acquisition or participation. Moreover, if such acquisitions or 
participations are identified, WesternZagros may determine that current markets, terms of acquisition 
and participation or pricing conditions make such acquisitions or participations uneconomic. There 
is no assurance that commercial quantities of oil and natural gas will be discovered or acquired by 
WesternZagros.

Future oil and natural gas exploration may involve unprofitable efforts, not only from dry wells, 
but from wells that are productive but do not produce sufficient petroleum substances to return a 
profit after drilling, operating and other costs. Completion of a well does not assure a profit on the 
investment or recovery of drilling, completion and operating costs. In addition, drilling hazards or 
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environmental damage could greatly increase the cost of operations, and various field operating 
conditions may adversely affect the production from successful wells. These conditions include delays 
in obtaining governmental approvals or consents; shut-ins of connected wells resulting from extreme 
weather conditions; insufficient storage or transportation capacity; or other geological and mechanical 
conditions. While diligent well supervision and effective maintenance operations can contribute to 
maximizing production rates over time, production delays and declines from normal field operating 
conditions cannot be eliminated and can be expected to adversely affect revenue and cash flow levels 
to varying degrees.

Oil and natural gas exploration, development and production operations are subject to all the risks 
and hazards typically associated with such operations, including hazards such as fire, explosion, 
blowouts, cratering, sour gas releases and spills, each of which could result in substantial damage to 
oil and natural gas wells, production facilities, other property and the environment or personal injury. 
In accordance with industry practice, WesternZagros is not fully insured against all of these risks, nor 
are all such risks insurable. Although WesternZagros maintains liability insurance in an amount that 
it considers consistent with industry practice, the nature of these risks is such that liabilities could 
exceed policy limits, in which event WesternZagros could incur significant costs that could have a 
material adverse effect upon its financial condition. Oil and natural gas production operations are also 
subject to all the risks typically associated with such operations, including encountering unexpected 
formations or pressures, premature decline of reservoirs and the invasion of water into producing 
formations. Losses resulting from the occurrence of any of these risks could have a material adverse 
effect on WesternZagros.

Ability to execute exploration and development program

It may not always be possible for WesternZagros to execute its exploration and development strategies 
in the manner in which WesternZagros considers optimal. WesternZagros’ exploration and development 
programs in Iraq involve the need to obtain approvals from the relevant authorities, which may require 
conditions to be satisfied or the exercise of discretion by the relevant authorities. It may not be possible 
for such conditions to be satisfied.

Project risks

WesternZagros’ ability to execute projects and market oil and natural gas will depend upon, or be 
impacted by, numerous factors beyond WesternZagros’ complete control, including:

•	 the	availability	and	proximity	of	pipeline	capacity	and	sales	markets;

•	 security	issues;

•	 the	supply	of	and	demand	for	oil	and	natural	gas;

•	 the	effects	of	inclement	weather;

•	 the	availability	of	drilling,	production	and	related	equipment	and	supplies,	as	well	as	services,	all	
of which may be disrupted for a number of reasons;

•	 unexpected	cost	increases;

•	 the	continued	participation	of	its	co-venturers	in	the	PSC	activities;

•	 accidental	events;

•	 currency	fluctuations;
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•	 the	availability	and	productivity	of	skilled	labour;

•	 adverse	legislation	in	the	Kurdistan	Region	and/or	Iraq;	and

•	 the	regulation	of	the	oil	and	natural	gas	industry	by	various	levels	of	government	and	governmental	
agencies in the Kurdistan Region and/or Iraq.

Because of these factors, WesternZagros could be unable to execute projects on time, on budget or at 
all, and may not be able to effectively market the oil and natural gas that it may produce. 

Operational experience

The management and directors of WesternZagros have significant international experience in the oil 
and gas industry; however, given the fact that WesternZagros was incorporated recently in 2007, the 
team has not, as a group, developed a conventional oil and gas project. 

Competition

The petroleum industry is competitive in all its phases. WesternZagros competes with numerous other 
organizations in the search for, and the acquisition of, oil and natural gas properties and in the marketing 
of oil and natural gas. WesternZagros’ competitors include oil and natural gas companies that have 
substantially greater financial resources, staff and facilities than WesternZagros. WesternZagros’ ability 
to acquire or increase reserves in the future will depend not only on its ability to explore and develop 
its present properties, but also on its ability to select and acquire other suitable producing properties 
or prospects for exploratory drilling. Competitive factors in the distribution and marketing of oil and 
natural gas include price and methods and reliability of delivery.

Management of growth

WesternZagros may be subject to growth-related risks, including capacity constraints and pressure 
on its internal systems and controls. The ability of WesternZagros to manage growth effectively will 
require it to continue to implement and improve its operational and financial systems and to expand, 
train and manage its employee base. The inability of WesternZagros to deal with this growth could 
have a material adverse impact on its business, operations and prospects.

Reliance on key personnel

WesternZagros’ success depends in large measure on certain key personnel. The loss of the services 
of such key personnel could have a material adverse affect on WesternZagros. WesternZagros does 
not have any key person insurance in effect for management. The contributions of the existing 
management team to the immediate and near term operations of WesternZagros are likely to be 
of central importance. In addition, the competition for qualified personnel in the oil and natural gas 
industry can be intense and there can be no assurance that WesternZagros will be able to continue to 
attract and retain all personnel necessary for the development and operation of its business. Investors 
must rely upon the ability, expertise, judgment, discretion, integrity and good faith of the management 
of WesternZagros.
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Substantial capital requirements

WesternZagros anticipates making substantial capital expenditures for the acquisition, exploration, 
development and production of oil and natural gas reserves in the future. These expenditures include 
WesternZagros’ requirement to carry the KRG’s 20 percent interest under the PSC. In addition, any 
change in the continued participation of Talisman under the PSC could increase the Company’s  
capital requirements.

WesternZagros’ results will impact its access to the capital necessary to undertake or complete future 
drilling and development programs. WesternZagros’ ability to access the equity or debt markets in the 
future may also be affected by any market instability. There can be no assurance that debt or equity 
financing, or future cash, if any, generated by operations, would be available or sufficient to meet these 
requirements or for other corporate purposes or, if debt or equity financing is available, that it will be 
on terms acceptable to WesternZagros. The inability of WesternZagros to access sufficient capital for 
its operations could have a material adverse effect on WesternZagros’ financial condition, results of 
operations and prospects and its ability to continue as a going concern.

Additional funding requirements

WesternZagros’ cash balances may not be sufficient to fund its ongoing activities at all times and 
to carry the KRG’s 20 percent interest. From time to time, WesternZagros may require additional 
financing in order to carry out its oil and gas acquisition, exploration and development activities. 
Failure to obtain such financing on a timely basis could cause WesternZagros to forfeit its interest 
in certain properties, miss certain acquisition opportunities and reduce or terminate its operations. 
WesternZagros’ ability to access the equity or debt markets in the future may be affected by any 
prolonged market instability.

Access to export infrastructure

WesternZagros’ ability to export production from any potential oil and gas discoveries may depend on 
its ability to secure transportation. WesternZagros may also be affected by deliverability uncertainties 
related to the proximity of its potential production to pipelines and processing facilities and operational 
problems affecting such pipelines and facilities as well as potential government regulation in the 
Kurdistan Region of Iraq relating to price and the export of oil and gas.

Prices, markets and marketing

The marketability and price of oil and natural gas that may be acquired or discovered by WesternZagros 
is, and will continue to be, affected by numerous factors beyond its control including the impact 
that the various levels of government may have on the ultimate price received for oil and gas sales. 
WesternZagros’ ability to market its oil and natural gas may depend upon its ability to secure 
transportation. WesternZagros may also be affected by deliverability uncertainties related to the 
proximity of its potential production to pipelines and processing facilities and operational problems 
affecting such pipelines and facilities as well as potential government regulation relating to price, the 
export of oil and natural gas and other aspects of the oil and natural gas business.
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Both oil and natural gas prices are subject to wide fluctuation. During 2009, both oil and gas prices 
remained volatile with West Texas Intermediate ranging from US$30 to US$80 per barrel. WesternZagros 
originally negotiated the economic terms of its PSC in 2007 in a $50 per bbl crude oil price environment 
and any significant and sustained decline in crude oil prices from this price may impact the feasibility 
of WesternZagros’ business plan.

Foreign exchange

WesternZagros operations costs are generally incurred in U.S. dollars, while the funds it will have 
available to it may be in other currencies. There is a possibility that operations and development costs 
may increase as a result of currency fluctuation.

Credit risk

WesternZagros is or may be exposed to third party credit risk through its contractual arrangements with 
any potential joint venture partners, marketers of its petroleum and natural gas production, suppliers, 
contractors, and other parties. In the event such entities fail to meet their contractual obligations to 
WesternZagros or determines not to continue to participate in the PSC activities, such events could 
have a material adverse effect on WesternZagros and its cash flow from operations. In addition, poor 
credit conditions in the industry may impact a joint venture partner’s willingness to participate in a 
future WesternZagros capital program.

Conflicts of interest

Certain directors of WesternZagros are also directors of other oil and gas companies and as 
such may, in certain circumstances, have a conflict of interest requiring them to abstain from 
certain decisions. Conflicts, if any, will be subject to the procedures and remedies of the Business 
Corporations Act (Alberta).

Critical Accounting Estimates

WesternZagros’ critical accounting estimates are defined as those estimates that have a significant 
impact on the portrayal of its financial position and operations and that require management to make 
judgments, assumptions and estimates in the application of Canadian GAAP. Judgments, assumptions 
and estimates are based on historical experience and other factors that management believes to be 
reasonable under current conditions. As events occur and additional information is obtained, these 
judgments, assumptions and estimates may be subject to change. WesternZagros believes the 
following are the critical accounting estimates used in the preparation of its consolidated financial 
statements. WesternZagros’ significant accounting estimates can be found in note 2 to its Annual 
Financial Statements. 

Use of estimates

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with Canadian GAAP requires 
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and 
liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities as at the date of the consolidated financial 
statements, and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Such 
estimates related to unsettled transactions and events as of the date of the consolidated financial 



2009 annual report  35

management’s discussion and analysis

statements. Accordingly, actual results may differ from these estimated amounts as future confirming 
events occur. Significant estimates used in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements 
include, but are not limited to, recovery of exploration costs capitalized in accordance with full cost 
accounting, asset retirement obligations, stock-based compensation, and income taxes.

Property, plant and equipment (“PP&E”)

WesternZagros capitalizes costs related to crude oil and natural gas properties in accordance with 
the full cost method, whereby all costs associated with the acquisition of, exploration for and the 
development of crude oil and natural gas, including asset retirement obligations are capitalized and 
accumulated within cost centres on a country-by-country basis. Such costs include land acquisition, 
geological and geophysical activity, drilling and testing of productive and non-productive wells, 
carrying costs directly related to unproved properties, major development projects and administrative 
costs directly related to exploration and development activities.

Depletion on crude oil properties is anticipated to be provided over the life of proved and probable 
reserves (assuming such reserves are established) on a unit of production basis and commences when 
the facilities are substantially complete and after commercial production has begun. Other PP&E assets 
are depreciated on a straight-line basis over their useful lives, except for lease acquisition costs, which 
are amortized and depreciated over the life of proved and probable reserves once established. 

PP&E assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or conditions indicate that their net carrying 
amount may not be recoverable from estimated future cash flows. If an impairment is identified the 
assets are written down to the estimated fair market value. The calculation of these future cash flows 
are dependent on a number of estimates, which include reserves, timing of production, crude oil price, 
operating cost estimates and foreign exchange rates. As a result, future cash flows are subject to 
significant management judgment. 

Asset retirement obligation

WesternZagros recognizes an asset and a liability for asset retirement obligations in the period in 
which they are incurred by estimating the fair value of the obligation. The Company determines the 
fair value by first estimating the expected timing and amount of cash flow, using third-party costs that 
will be required for future dismantlement and site restoration, and then calculating the present value 
of these future expenditures using a credit adjusted risk free rate appropriate for WesternZagros. Any 
change in timing or amount of the cash flow subsequent to initial recognition results in a change in 
the asset and liability, which then impacts the depletion on the asset and the accretion charged on the 
liability. Estimating the timing and amount of cash outflow to settle this obligation is inherently difficult 
and is based on management’s current experience.

Stock based compensation

WesternZagros uses fair value accounting for stock-based compensation. Under this method, all 
equity instruments awarded to employees and the cost of the service received as considerations are 
measured and recognized based on the fair value of the equity instruments issued. Compensation 
expense is recognized over the period of related employee service, usually the vesting period of the 
equity instrument awarded.
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Income tax

WesternZagros follows the liability method of accounting for income taxes whereby future income 
taxes are recognized based on the differences between the carrying values of assets and liabilities 
reported in the Annual Financial Statements and their respective tax basis. Future income tax assets 
and liabilities are recognized at the tax rates at which management expects the temporary differences 
to reverse. Management bases this expectation on future earnings, which require estimates for 
reserves, timing of production, crude oil price, operating cost estimates and foreign exchange rates. 
Management assesses, based on all available evidence, the likelihood that the future income tax assets 
will be recovered from future taxable income and a valuation allowance is provided to the extent that 
it is more than likely that future income tax assets will not be realized. As a result, future earnings are 
subject to significant management judgment and changes.

Changes In Accounting Policies and Practices  
and Future Accounting Pronouncements

Changes in accounting policies

WesternZagros adopted the following new accounting standards effective January 1, 2009:

•	 CICA	Handbook	Section	3064,	Goodwill	and	Intangible	Assets	(“Section	3064”),	which	has	replaced	
Section 3062. This new guidance reinforces a principles-based approach to the recognition of 
costs as assets in accordance with the definition of an asset and the criteria for asset recognition 
under Section 1000 “Financial Statement Concepts”. The implementation of this section had no 
significant impact on the Company’s financial statements.

•	 Emerging	Issues	Committee	(“EIC”)	abstract	173	“Credit	Risk	and	the	Fair	Value	of	Financial	Assets	
and the Financial Liabilities”. EIC 173 provides further information on the determination of the fair 
value of the financial assets and financial liabilities under Section 3855 “Financial Instruments – 
Recognition and Measurement”. The implementation of this section had no significant impact on 
to the Company’s financial statements.

Future accounting pronouncements

In January 2009, CICA issued Section 1582 “Business Combination”, Section 1601 “Consolidated 
Financial Statements”, and Section 1602 “Non-controlling Interests” which may have an impact on the 
Company’s consolidated financial statements.

•	 Section	1582	replaces	former	guidance	on	business	combination.	The	new	Section	expands	the	
definition of a business subject to an acquisition and establishes significant new guidance on the 
measurement of consideration given, and the recognition and measurement of assets acquired 
and liabilities assumed in a business combination. The new Section requires that all business 
acquisitions be measured at the full fair value of the acquired entity at the acquisition date even 
if the business combination is achieved in stages, or if less than 100 percent of the equity interest 
in the acquiree is owned a the acquisition date. 

 This standard is equivalent to the International Financial Reporting Standard 3 “Business 
Combinations”. This standard is applied prospectively to business combinations with acquisition 
dates on or after January 1, 2011. Earlier adoption is permitted. This new Section will only have 
an impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements for future acquisitions that will be 
made in periods subsequent to the date of adoption.
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•	 Section	1601	establishes	standards	for	the	preparation	of	consolidated	financial	statements.	Section	
1602 provides guidance on accounting for non-controlling interest in a subsidiary in consolidated 
financial statements subsequent to a business combination. The two Sections are the equivalent 
to the corresponding provisions of the International Accounting Standard 27 “Consolidated and 
Separate Financial Statements” These Sections apply to interim and annual consolidated financial 
statements relating to fiscal years beginning on or after January 1, 2011, and should be adopted 
concurrently with Section 1582. Earlier adoption is permitted. The Company is currently evaluating 
the impact of the adopting these standards on its consolidated financial statements.

International financial reporting standards (“IFRS”)

In February 2008, the Accounting Standards Board confirmed that all Canadian publicly accountable 
enterprises will be required to adopt IFRS for interim and annual reporting purposes for fiscal years 
beginning on or after January 1, 2011. WesternZagros has performed its preliminary review on the 
accounting policy choices upon its conversion to IFRS for the fiscal year beginning on January 1, 2011. The 
implementation of IFRS 6 “Exploration for and Evaluation of Mineral Resources” (“IFRS 6”) is expected to 
have the most significance to the Company’s results of operations, financial position and disclosures.

WesternZagros currently utilizes the full cost method for accounting for its exploration activities in 
the Kurdistan Region of Iraq under Canadian GAAP. Under the full cost method, all costs associated 
with the acquisition of, exploration for and the development of crude oil and natural gas, including 
asset retirement obligations, are capitalized and accumulated within cost centres on a country-by-
country basis. Such costs include land acquisition, geological and geophysical activity, drilling and 
testing of productive and non-productive wells, carrying costs directly related to unproved properties, 
major development projects and administrative costs directly related to exploration and development 
activities. As WesternZagros is only currently operating in the Kurdistan Region of Iraq and has only 
one PSC in that region, it has capitalized all costs associated with those exploration activities, including 
certain costs incurred prior to the entering into of the PSC.

Under Canadian GAAP, amounts capitalized under the full cost method are reviewed for impairment 
whenever events or conditions indicate that their net carrying amount may not be recoverable from 
estimated future cash flows. If an impairment is identified, the assets are written down to the estimated 
fair market value. The calculation of these future cash flows is dependent on a number of estimates, 
which include reserves, timing of production, crude oil price, operating cost estimates and foreign 
exchange rates. 

Upon conversion to IFRS, WesternZagros will be required to adopt IFRS 6, which is the standard that deals 
with accounting for exploration and evaluation (“E&E”) assets in the extractive industries. Typical costs 
included in the E&E assets are acquisition of rights to explore, topographical, geological, geochemical 
and geophysical studies, exploratory drilling, trenching, sampling, and activities in relation to evaluating 
the technical feasibility and commercial viability of extracting mineral resources. Under IFRS 6, costs 
incurred prior to the legal rights to explore an area being obtained may no longer be capitalized within 
E&E assets and requires that upon initial recognition E&E assets should be measured at cost. 

IFRS 6 allows either of two alternatives to be chosen as the accounting policy for E&E assets after 
initial recognition. The first alternative is the “cost model” whereby the item is carried at cost less 
impairment. The other alternative is the “revaluation model.” The revaluation model requires that, 
after initial recognition, an asset, whose fair value can be reliably measured should be carried at a 
re-valued amount, being fair value at the date of measurement, less any subsequent accumulated 
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depreciation or accumulated impairment losses. For the purpose of completing an impairment test 
under IFRS 6, the E&E assets must be allocated to specific cash-generating units (“CGUs”). The level 
of grouping of CGUs for impairment testing purpose is based on how management makes decisions 
about continuing/disposing of assets and operations and the commercial terms associated with these 
assets and operations.

Upon adoption of IFRS, WesternZagros anticipates that the costs it has capitalized under the full cost 
method prior to the execution of its PSC will be expensed, but has not yet determined which method 
it will follow in respect of the E&E assets after initial recognition. 

Other areas of potential impact include stock-based compensation. WesternZagros continues to 
develop an implementation plan, including the consideration of the resources required to complete 
the conversion to IFRS and the impact to its financial systems.
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Management’s responsibility for financial reporting

Management is responsible for the reliability and integrity of the consolidated financial statements, the 
notes to the consolidated financial statements, and other financial information presented elsewhere in 
this annual report.

The financial statements have been prepared by management in accordance with Canadian generally 
accepted accounting principles. When alternative accounting methods exist, management has chosen 
those it deems most appropriate in the circumstances. Financial statements are not precise as they 
include certain amounts based on estimates and judgments. Management has determined such amounts 
on a reasonable basis in order to ensure that the financial statements are presented fairly, in all material 
respects. Financial information presented elsewhere in this annual report has been prepared on a basis 
consistent with that in the financial statements.

The Board of Directors is responsible for ensuring that management fulfills its responsibilities for financial 
reporting and internal control and for reviewing and approving the consolidated financial statements. 
The Board is assisted in exercising its responsibilities through the Audit Committee of the Board.

The Audit Committee meets periodically with management and the auditors to satisfy itself that each 
is properly discharging its responsibilities, to review significant accounting and reporting matters 
and to review the consolidated financial statements. The Audit Committee reports its findings and 
recommends the approval of the consolidated financial statements to the Board.

The consolidated financial statements have been audited on behalf of the shareholders by the 
independent auditors PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, in accordance with Canadian generally accepted 
auditing standards.

M. Simon Hatfield  
Chief Executive Officer 

  
February 22, 2010

Greg Stevenson 
Chief Financial Officer
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Auditor’s report

February 22, 2010

Auditors’ Report

To the Shareholders of WesternZagros Resources Ltd.

We have audited the consolidated balance sheets of WesternZagros Resources Ltd. as at December 31, 2009 
and 2008 and the consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive loss and deficit and cash flows 
for the years then ended. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those 
standards require that we plan and perform an audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial 
statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence 
supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the 
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the 
overall financial statement presentation.

In our opinion, these consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial 
position of the Company as at December 31, 2009 and 2008 and the results of its operations and its cash 
flows for the years then ended in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles.

Chartered Accountants
Calgary, Alberta

“PricewaterhouseCoopers” refers to PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an Ontario limited liability partnership, or, as the 
context requires, the PricewaterhouseCoopers global network or other member firms of the network, each of which is a 
separate legal entity.
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  December 31 

(United States $ thousands) 2009 2008

Assets  

Current Assets  

 Cash and Cash Equivalents 76,708 90,016

 Short-term Investments (note 4) – 39,967

 Accounts Receivable 6,880 12,161

 Prepaid Expenses 183 250

 Income Tax Recoverable 1,738 –

 Future Income Taxes (note 8) 231 330

  85,740 142,724

Long-term Assets  

 Property, Plant and Equipment (note 5) 154,911 100,663

    Deposit Held in Trust (note 6) 420 –

 Future Income Taxes (note 8) 6 310

  155,337 100,973

  241,077 243,697

Liabilities  

Current Liabilities  

 Accounts Payable and Accrued Liabilities 18,297 13,326

 Income Tax Payable – 4,679

  18,297 18,005

Long-term Liabilities  

 Asset Retirement Obligation (note 7) 175 69

  18,472 18,074

Shareholders’ Equity  

Share Capital (note 9) 253,583 253,583

Contributed Surplus (note 12) 8,749 6,276

Deficit (39,727) (34,236)

  222,605 225,623

  241,077 243,697

Commitments and Contingencies (note 17)
Subsequent Events (note 20)

Approved by the Board of Directors

 

Fred J. Dyment  
Director  

Randall Oliphant 
Director 

See Accompanying Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Consolidated balance sheets 
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Consolidated statements of operations,  
comprehensive loss and deficit

  For the Years Ended December 31

 (United States $ thousands, except per share amounts) 2009 2008

Revenues

 Interest Income 184 2,959

Expenses  

 General and Administrative 6,260 7,339

 Depreciation  737 240

 Accretion on Asset Retirement Obligation 11 3

 Foreign Exchange Loss 12 1,438

  7,020 9,020

Net Loss and Other Comprehensive Loss Before Income Taxes 6,836 6,061

Income Tax Expense (Recovery) (note 8) (1,345) 4,039

Net Loss and Other Comprehensive Loss 5,491 10,100

Deficit at Beginning of Year 34,236 24,136

Deficit at End of Year 39,727 34,236

Net Loss Per Share – Basic and Diluted (note 13) 0.03 0.05

See Accompanying Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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  For the Years Ended December 31

(United States $ thousands) 2009 2008

Cash Provided By (Used In)

Cash From Operating Activities  

Net Loss (5,491) (10,100)

Non-cash Items  

 Depreciation 737 240

 Accretion on Asset Retirement Obligation (note 7) 11 3

 Stock-based Compensation (note 11) 1,938 1,938

 Future Income Tax Expense (Recovery) (note 8 )        404 (640)

  (2,401) (8,559)

 (Increase) Decrease  in Non-Cash Working Capital (note 15) (6,440) 4,452

  (8,841) (4,107)

Cash From Financing Activities  

 Share Issuance Under Private Placement (note 9) – 71,384

 Exercise of Warrants (note 9) – 6,048

  – 77,432

Cash From Investing Activities  

 Short-term Investments 39,967 (39,967)

 Capital Expenditures (54,356) (95,102)

 Proceeds from Third Party Participant (note 5) –      50,675

 Deposits Held in Trust  (420) 4,148

 Decrease (Increase) in Non-cash Working Capital (note 15) 10,342 (3,430)

  (4,467) (83,676)

Decrease  in Cash and Cash Equivalents (13,308) (10,351)

    
Cash and Cash Equivalents at Beginning of Year 90,016 100,367

    
Cash and Cash Equivalents at End of Year 76,708 90,016

 
Supplement Cash Flows Disclosure 

Income Taxes Paid (Recovered) 4,669 –

See Accompanying Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Consolidated statements of cash flows
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(Tabular amounts in United States $ thousands)

1.  Nature of Operations and Basis of Presentation

WesternZagros Resources Ltd. (the “Corporation”) was incorporated on August 22, 2007 under the 
laws of the Province of Alberta. The Corporation, an international oil and gas company, is engaged in 
acquiring properties and exploring for, developing of and producing crude oil and natural gas in Iraq 
and is in the developmental stage. Through its subsidiaries, the Corporation’s operations are related to 
its interest in a Production Sharing Contract (“PSC”) with the Kurdistan Regional Government (“KRG”) 
in respect of an exploration project area in the Kurdistan Region of Iraq. 

Since inception and typical with development stage companies, the Corporation has incurred losses 
from operations and negative cash flows from operating activities, and has an accumulated deficit at 
December 31, 2009. The ability of the Corporation to successfully carry out its business plan beyond 
exploration is primarily dependent upon the continued support of its shareholders, the discovery 
of economically recoverable reserves, the resolution of remaining political disputes in Iraq, its joint 
venture partner’s continued participation in the exploration activities under the PSC, and the ability of 
the Corporation to obtain financing to develop reserves.

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Canadian generally 
accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”) on the basis that the Corporation will continue to operate as a 
going concern, which implies the realization of assets and the settlement of liabilities and commitments 
in the normal course of business for the foreseeable future. During the year ended December 31, 2009, 
the Corporation utilized cash of $54.4 million for oil and gas property expenditures. The Corporation 
will require additional funding to maintain ongoing exploration programs and property commitments 
as well as for administration expenses.

The Corporation’s ability to continue operations and exploration activities as a going concern is 
dependent upon its ability to obtain additional funding. While the Corporation has been successful in 
obtaining its required funding in the past, there is no assurance that sufficient funds will be available 
to the Corporation in the future. The Corporation has no assurance that such financing will be available 
or be available on favorable terms. Factors that could affect the availability of financing include the 
progress and results of the Kurdamir-1 well, investor perceptions and expectations, and the condition 
of the financial and oil and gas markets.

These consolidated financial statements do not reflect adjustments in the carrying values of assets 
and liabilities reported, revenue or expenses, and the balance sheet classification used that would be 
necessary if the going concern assumption was not appropriate. Such adjustment could be material.

2.  Significant Accounting Policies

In these Consolidated Financial Statements, unless otherwise indicated, all dollar amounts are expressed 
in United States (“U.S.”) dollars. The Corporation has adopted the U.S. dollar as its functional and 
reporting currency since most of its expenses are directly or indirectly denominated in U.S. dollars. 
When revenues are realized, it is expected that U.S. dollars will be received. In addition, the U.S. 
dollar facilitates a more direct comparison to other international crude oil and natural gas exploration 
and development companies. All references herein to U.S. $ or to $ are to United States dollars and 
references herein to Cdn $ are to Canadian dollars.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
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i. Principles of Consolidation

The Consolidated Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with Canadian  
generally accepted accounting principles and include the accounts of the Corporation and its wholly-
owned subsidiaries.

ii. Measurement Uncertainty

The preparation of the Consolidated Financial Statements in conformity with Canadian generally 
accepted accounting principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect 
the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the 
date of the Consolidated Financial Statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses 
during the reporting period. Such estimates relate to unsettled transactions and events as of the 
date of the Consolidated Financial Statements. Accordingly, actual results may differ from these 
estimated amounts as future confirming events occur. Significant estimates used in the preparation 
of the Consolidated Financial Statements include, but are not limited to, recovery of exploration costs 
capitalized in accordance with full-cost accounting, asset retirement obligation, future income taxes, 
and fair value of stock-based compensation.

iii. Foreign Currency Translation

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated to U.S. dollars at 
rates of exchange in effect at the end of the period. Foreign currency transactions are translated into 
the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Foreign 
exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation 
at year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are 
recognized in the income statement.

iv. Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash in the bank, less outstanding cheques, and short-term 
deposits with a maturity of three months or less.

v. Revenue

The Corporation recognizes revenue, which is related to the interest income earned on the Corporation’s 
cash and cash equivalents and short-term investments, on an accrual basis.

vi. Property, Plant and Equipment (“PP&E”)

a) Petroleum and natural gas assets.

The Corporation accounts for its petroleum and natural gas operations in accordance with the 
Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants’ (“CICA”) guideline on full-cost accounting in the oil and 
gas industry. Under this method, all exploration and development costs, including asset retirement 
obligations, are capitalized and accumulated within cost centres on a country-by-country basis. Such 
costs include land acquisition, geological and geophysical activity, drilling and testing of productive 
and non-productive wells, carrying costs directly related to unproved properties, major development 
projects and administrative costs directly related to exploration and development activities.

notes to the consolidated financial statements
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If the Corporation commences commercial production from the cost centres, capitalized costs 
accumulated within each cost centre will be depleted, depreciated and amortized on the unit-of-
production method based on the estimated proved reserves of that country using estimated future 
prices and costs.

Proceeds from the disposal of properties are normally deducted from the full-cost pool without 
recognition of a gain or loss, unless that deduction would result in a change to the depletion rate by 
20 percent or more, in which case a gain or loss is recorded.

In determining the depletion base, the Corporation will include estimated future costs to be incurred in 
developing proved reserves and will exclude the cost of unproved properties and major development 
projects. Costs of major development projects and costs of acquiring and evaluating significant unproved 
properties are excluded, on a cost centre basis, from costs subject to depletion until it is determined 
whether or not proved reserves are attributable to the properties or impairment has occurred. To date, 
no depletion related to the Corporation’s properties has been recorded as commercial operations have 
not commenced.

The Corporation reviews the carrying amount of its properties relative to their recoverable amount (the 
“ceiling test”) for each cost centre at each annual balance sheet date or more frequently if circumstances 
or events indicate impairment has occurred. The recoverable amount is calculated as the sum of:

•	 the	undiscounted	cash	flow	from	proved	reserves	using	expected	future	prices	and	costs;

•	 the	cost	of	unproved	properties;	and

•	 the	costs	of	major	development	projects	less	impairment.

If the carrying amount of the properties exceeds their recoverable amount, an impairment loss is 
recognized in depletion equal to the amount by which the carrying amount of the properties exceeds 
their fair value. Fair value is calculated as the sum of:

•	 the	 cash	 flows	 from	 proved	 and	 probable	 reserves	 using	 expected	 future	 prices	 and	 costs,	
discounted at a risk-free interest rate; and

•	 the	cost,	less	impairment,	of	unproved	reserves	and	major	development	projects	that	do	not	have	
probable reserves attributable to them.

The Corporation is currently engaged in the Kurdistan Region Exploration Project, as described in note 
5, which is in the development stage. The Corporation has no proven or probable reserves to form 
the basis for an estimate of future net cash flow from the properties. The Corporation has considered 
the conditions in CICA Accounting Guideline 11 for impairment which includes significant unfavorable 
economic, legal, regulatory, environmental, political and other factors. In addition, the Corporation’s 
continued execution of its’ business plan is a key factor considered as part of the assessment of the 
recoverability of the carrying amount of the properties. Whenever events or changes in circumstances 
indicate that the carrying amount of a property in the development stage may be impaired, capitalized 
costs are written down to the estimated recoverable amount. As at December 31, 2009, $154.2 million 
has been capitalized to date related to this project. No revenues have been generated from this project 
to date and no impairment was identified at December 31, 2009.

notes to the consolidated financial statements
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b) Corporate PP&E assets

Corporate PP&E assets are stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation. Corporate assets are 
depreciated on a straight-line basis over their useful lives ranging from two to three years. The assets’ 
residual values and useful lives are reviewed and adjusted, if required, at each balance sheet date.

vii. Asset Retirement Obligation

The Corporation recognizes an asset and a liability for asset retirement obligations in the period in 
which they are incurred by estimating the fair value of the obligation. The fair value is determined by the 
Corporation by first estimating the expected timing and amount of cash flows, using third-party costs, 
that will be required for future dismantlement and site restoration, and then calculating the present 
value of these future expenditures using a credit adjusted risk-free interest rate that Management of 
the Corporation deem appropriate. Any change in timing or amount of the cash flows subsequent 
to initial recognition results in a change in the asset and liability. The Corporation recognizes the 
accretion expense on the liability and depletion on the asset over the estimated life of the asset and 
liability. Actual expenditures, when incurred, will be charged against the accumulated obligation.

viii. Income Taxes

The Corporation follows the liability method of income tax allocation. Under this method, future tax 
assets and liabilities are determined based on differences between the carrying values and tax basis of 
assets and liabilities and are measured using the substantially enacted tax rates and laws that will be in 
effect when the differences are expected to reverse. The Corporation assesses, based on all available 
evidence, the likelihood that the future income tax assets will be recovered from future taxable income. 
A valuation allowance is provided to the extent that it is more likely than not that future income tax 
assets will not be realized.

ix. Stock-Based Compensation

For the Corporation’s stock option plan, compensation expense is recorded in the Consolidated 
Statements of Operations as general and administrative expenses with a corresponding increase 
in contributed surplus in the Consolidated Balance Sheets for all common share options granted. 
Compensation costs directly related to exploration activities are capitalized. The expense is based on 
the fair values of the options at the time of grant and is recognized in the Consolidated Statements 
of Operations over the requisite service period of the respective options on a straight-line basis. Fair 
values are determined, at the grant date, using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model. When stock 
options are exercised, the cash proceeds together with the amount previously recorded as contributed 
surplus is recorded as share capital.

x. Financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities, including derivative instruments, are initially recognized and subsequently 
measured based on their classification as “held-for-trading”, “available-for-sale” financial assets, 
“held-to-maturity”, “loans and receivables”, or “other” financial liabilities. Held-for-trading financial 
instruments are measured at their fair value with changes in fair value recognized in net income for the 
period. Available-for-sale financial assets are measured at their fair value and changes in fair value are 
included in other comprehensive income until the asset is removed from the balance sheet. Held-to-
maturity investments, loans and receivables and other financial liabilities are measured at amortized 
cost using the effective interest rate method. Derivative instruments, including embedded derivatives, 
are measured at their fair value with changes in fair value recognized in net income for the period, 

notes to the consolidated financial statements
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unless the instrument is a cash flow hedge and hedge accounting applies, in which case changes in fair 
value are recognized in other comprehensive income. The Corporation has not identified any material 
embedded derivatives in any of its financial instruments. The Corporation has not designated any of 
its derivatives as hedges.

The Corporation classifies fair value measurements using a fair value hierarchy that reflects the 
significance of the inputs used in making the measurements. The Corporation’s fair value hierarchy has 
the following levels:

•	 Quoted	prices	(unadjusted)	in	active	markets	for	identical	assets	and	liabilities	(Level	I);	and

•	 Inputs	other	than	quoted	prices	included	in	Level	I	that	are	observable	for	the	asset	or	liability,	
either directly or indirectly (Level II); and

•	 Valuation	techniques	with	significant	unobservable	market	inputs	(Level	III).	

3.  Changes In Accounting Policies  
and Future Accounting Pronouncements

Changes in accounting policies

i. Goodwill and Intangible Assets

As of January 1, 2009, the Corporation adopted the CICA Handbook Section 3064, “Goodwill and 
Intangible Assets”, which replaced the existing Goodwill and Intangible Assets standard. The new 
standard revises the requirement for recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure of 
intangible assets. The adoption of this standard did not have a material impact on the Corporations’ 
Consolidated Financial Statements.

ii. Credit Risk and the Fair Value of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities

In January 2009, the Emerging Issues Committee (“EIC”) of the CICA approved an abstract EIC 173, 
“Credit	Risk	and	the	Fair	Value	of	Financial	Assets	and	the	Financial	Liabilities”	which	provides	further	
information on the determination of the fair value of the financial assets and financial liabilities under 
Section 3855 “Financial Instruments – Recognition and Measurement”. The Corporation incorporated 
the provisions of EIC 173 in its fair value determination as at December 31, 2009 with retrospective 
application, if any, to the beginning of its 2009 fiscal year. The adoption of this standard did not have 
material impact on the Corporation’s consolidated financial statements.

Future accounting pronouncements

i. Business Combination

“Business Combination”, Section 1582, which replaces former guidance on business combination. The 
new Section expands the definition of a business subject to an acquisition and establishes significant 
new guidance on the measurement of consideration given, and the recognition and measurement of 
assets acquired and liabilities assumed in a business combination. The new Section requires that all 
business acquisitions be measured at the full fair value of the acquired entity at the acquisition date 
even if the business combination is achieved in stages, or if less than 100 percent of the equity interest 
in the acquiree is owned a the acquisition date. 
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This standard is equivalent to the International Financial Reporting Standard 3 “Business Combinations”. 
This standard is applied prospectively to business combinations with acquisition dates on or after 
January 1, 2011. Earlier adoption is permitted. This new Section will only have an impact on the Company’s 
consolidated financial statements for future acquisitions that will be made in periods subsequent to 
the date of adoption.

ii. Consolidated Financial Statements

“Consolidated Financial Statements”, Section 1601, which together with Section 1602 below replace 
the former consolidation financial statements standard. Section 1602 establishes the requirement 
for the preparation of consolidated financial statements. The two Sections are the equivalent to the 
corresponding provisions of the International Accounting Standard 27 “Consolidated and Separate 
Financial Statements” These Sections apply to interim and annual consolidated financial statements 
relating to fiscal years beginning on or after January 1, 2011, and should be adopted concurrently with 
Section 1582. Earlier adoption is permitted. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of the 
adopting this standard on its consolidated financial statements.

iii. Non-controlling interests

“Non-controlling interests”, Section 1602, which establishes the accounting for a non-controlling 
interest in a subsidiary in consolidated financial statements subsequent to a business combination. The 
standard requires a non-controlling interest in a subsidiary to be classified as a separate component 
of equity. In addition, net earnings and components of other comprehensive income are attributed 
to both the parent and non-controlling interest. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of 
adopting this standard on its consolidated financial statements.

4.  Short-Term Investments

Short-term investments are carried at cost and are comprised of Government of Canada US Treasury 
Bills which mature within four to six months of purchase.

5.  Property, Plant and Equipment

  Cost Accum.  Net 
December 31, 2009  DD&A*

Kurdistan Region Exploration Project 154,244  – 154,244

Corporate 1,684 (1,017) 667

  155,928 (1,017) 154,911

  Cost Accum.  Net 
December 31, 2008  DD&A*

Kurdistan Region Exploration Project 100,327  – 100,327

Corporate 616 (280) 336

  100,934 (280) 100,663

* Accumulated Depreciation, Depletion and Amortization
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On June 23, 2008, the Corporation announced that the KRG nominated a wholly-owned subsidiary 
of Talisman Energy Inc. (“Talisman”) as the Third Party Participant in the PSC. Prior to June 30, 2008, 
the Corporation funded 100 percent of the PSC expenditures and subsequent to June 30, 2008 the 
Corporation funds 60 percent of the PSC expenditures, representing the Corporation’s 40 percent 
working interest and its obligation to carry the KRG’s 20 percent working interest. Under the terms of 
the PSC, Talisman paid the Corporation $50.7 million in costs incurred by the Corporation to June 30, 
2008. This amount has been credited against the total cost pool previously recorded.

All costs included in the Kurdistan Region Exploration Project are excluded from depletion as they represent 
costs incurred related to properties in cost centres that are considered to be in the development stage. 
Currently, there are no proved reserves. All costs, net of any associated revenues, have been capitalized. The 
Corporation capitalized $3.2 million of general and administrative costs (December 31, 2008 - $2.1 million) 
including $0.5 million of stock-based compensation (December 31, 2008 - $0.7 million) directly related to 
exploration activities for the year ended December 31, 2009. 

6.  Deposits Held In Trust

The Corporation had deposited in trust certain amounts to be utilized to fund certain expenditures for 
drilling operations. The deposits bear interest at prevailing market rates. As of December 31, 2009, the 
Corporation had $0.4 million deposit held in trust for a supplier. 

7.  Asset Retirement Obligation

The Corporation records the fair value of legal obligations associated with the retirement and reclamation 
of tangible long-lived assets when incurred. The asset retirement cost, equal to the estimated fair value 
of the asset retirement obligation, is capitalized as part of the cost of the related long-lived asset. The 
estimation of this cost is based on engineering estimates using current costs and technology and in 
accordance with industry practice. The Corporation’s share of total undiscounted amount of estimated 
cash flow required to settle the obligation is $1.2 million, which is assumed to be paid in the year 2033 
in the most likely case. The Corporation used a credit adjusted risk-free rate of 10 percent and an 
inflation rate of 4 percent to calculate the net present value of the future retirement obligation.

The following table summarizes the changes in asset retirement obligations for the years ended 
December 31, 2009 and 2008:

December 31 2009 2008

Balance, Beginning of Year 69 –

Liabilities incurred 95 66

Accretion expense 11 3

Balance, End of Year 175 69
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8.  Income Taxes

 
Years Ended December 31 2009 2008

Current Income Tax (Recovery) Expense (1,749) 4,679

Future Income Tax (Recovery) Expense 404 (640)

Income Tax (Recovery) Expense (1,345) 4,039

As at December 31 the Future Income Tax assets are comprised of:

  2009 2008

Current Future Income Tax Asset:  

 Non-Capital Loss Carry-forwards 27 1,341

 Share Issue Costs 204 204

 Unrealized Foreign Exchange Gains – (1,215)

  231 330

  

  2009 2008

Long-term Future Income Tax Asset:  

Share Issue Costs 387 408

Book	Values	in	Excess	of	Tax	Values	 (198)	 (98)

Allowance (183) –

  6 310

 
Income tax expense differs from that which would be expected from applying the effective Canadian 
federal and provincial tax rates of 29% (2008 – 29.5%):

For the Years Ended December 31 2009 2008

Net Loss Before Income Taxes (6,836) (6,061) 
 

Income Tax Expense (Recovery) at Statutory Rate (1,982) (1,788)

Losses in Foreign Jurisdictions With No Tax Benefit 808 1,385

Stock-based Compensation 717 572

Valuation	Allowance		 183	 (3,154)

Realized Foreign Exchange Gains – 4,027

Unrealized Foreign Exchange Gains – 1,684

Foreign Exchange Change on Non-Capital Loss Carry-Forwards – 326

Effect of Tax Planning and Provision to Actual (859) –

Effect of Timing of Use (154) –

Other (58) 987

Income Tax Expense  (1,345) 4,039
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9.  Share Capital

i. Authorized

The Corporation is authorized to issue an unlimited number of common and preferred shares.  
The common shares are without nominal or par value.

ii. Common Shares Issued and Outstanding

  Number of Shares Amount 
   (000’s)

Balance at December 31, 2007 171,704,047 175,405

Issued – Exercise of Warrants 2,426,939 6,048

Issued	–	Warrant	Value	Transferred	on	Exercise	of	Warrants	(note	9)	 –	 746

Issued – Under Private Placement 33,333,334 75,645

Share Issuance Costs – (4,261)

Balance at December 31, 2008 and December 31, 2009 207,464,320 253,583

 
On October 18, 2007, Western Oil Sands Inc. (“Western”) announced the completion of a Plan of 
Arrange (“Arrangement”) pursuant to which the Corporation, through a series of transactions, 
acquired all of the outstanding shares in WesternZagros Resources Inc. Under the Arrangement, the 
shareholders of Western received one share of the Corporation and one-tenth of a common share 
warrant to purchase the shares of the Corporation for each Western share held. Each whole warrant 
was exercisable at a price of Cdn$2.50 until January 18, 2008. In aggregate, 165,057,183 common 
shares and 16,505,729 warrants were issued to the former Western shareholders. 

During the period January 1 to January 18, 2008, the Corporation received approximately  
$6.0 million in total proceeds from the exercise of 2.4 million warrants. This brought the total 
proceeds to $10.2 million from the exercise of 4.1 million warrants over the life of the warrants.

On March 7, 2008, the Corporation completed a private placement for 33.3 million common shares 
at a price of Cdn$2.25 per share for gross proceeds of Cdn$75 million (net Cdn$71 million).
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10.  Warrants

Pursuant to the Arrangement, the Corporation issued 16,505,729 warrants on October 18, 2007.  
Each whole warrant was exercisable at a price of Cdn$2.50 and expired on January 18, 2008. 

The following table presents the reconciliation of warrants outstanding:

  Number of Warrants Amount 
   (000’s)

Balance at December 31, 2007 14,858,865 4,570

Warrant	Value	Transferred	to	Share	Capital	on	Exercise	(note	8)		 (2,426,939)	 (746)

Warrant	Value	Transferred	to	Contributed	Surplus	on	Expiry		 (12,431,926)	 (3,824)

Balance at December 31, 2008 and December 31, 2009 – –

 
The fair value originally recorded on the 12,431,926 warrants that expired on January 18, 2008 of $3.8 
million has been reclassed to Contributed Surplus, as the warrants associated with this amount were 
not exercised.

11.  Stock Options And Stock-Based Compensation

On October 16, 2007, the shareholders approved a stock option plan for the Corporation. Under the 
stock option plan, the Board of Directors may grant options to directors, officers, employees and 
service providers. The aggregate number of shares that may be reserved for issuance pursuant to 
stock options may not exceed 10 percent of the issued and outstanding common shares on a non-
diluted basis of the Corporation at the time of granting. Stock options expire not more than five years 
from the date of grant, or earlier if the individual ceases to be associated with the Corporation, and 
vest at the discretion of the Board of Directors. 

During 2009 the Corporation granted 1,990,000 stock options exercisable for voting common shares 
of the Company. Stock options expire not more than five years from the grant date, or earlier if the 
individual ceases to be associated with the Company, and vest at the discretion of the Board of 
Directors. These options have a weighted average exercise price of Cdn$0.8 per share.

The following table presents the reconciliation of options granted for the year ending December 31, 2009:

December 31 2009 2008

  Number of Weighted Number of Weighted 
  Options Average Options Average 
   Exercise  Exercise 
   Price (Cdn$)  Price (Cdn$)

Outstanding, beginning of year 12,305,667 1.62 12,739,000 1.64

Granted 1,990,000 0.80 – –

Forfeited (1,288,333) 1.55 (433,333) 2.15

Outstanding, end of year 13,007,334 1.50 12,305,667 1.62
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The following table summarizes Stock Options outstanding and exercisable under the Stock Option 
Plan at December 31, 2009:

 Options Outstanding Options Exercisable

 Range of Number of Weighted Weighted Number of Weighted Weighted 
 Exercise Options Average Average Options Average Average 
 Price (Cdn$) Outstanding Remaining Exercise Exercisable Remaining Exercise 
   Contractual Price (Cdn$)  Contractual Price (Cdn$) 
   Life (years)   Life (years)

  $ 0.51 - $1.00 5,709,000 4.09  0.62 1,938,003 4.05 0.66

  $ 1.01 - $2.00 450,000 3.87  1.39 118,333 3.71 1.30

  $ 2.01 - $3.00 6,528,334 3.10  2.19 4,153,338 3.08 2.17

  $ 3.01 - $3.33 320,000 3.46  3.32 106,666 3.46 3.32

   13,007,334 3.57  1.50 6,316,340 3.39 1.71

 
The fair values of all options granted have been estimated at the grant date using the Black-Scholes 
option pricing model. The weighted average fair values of the options and weighted average 
assumptions used in their determination are as follows:

Year Ended December 31  2009 2008

Weighted	Average	Fair	Value		 $	0.79	 	$	0.64

Risk Free Interest Rate 1.64% to 1.73% 3.68%

Expected Life (In Years)  1 – 3 years  2.86 years

Expected	Volatility	 80%	 58%

Dividend Per Share Nil Nil

 
During the year ended December 31, 2009, the Corporation recognized $1.9 million (2008 - $1.9 million) 
in stock-based compensation in general and administrative expense and capitalized $0.5 million (2008 
- $0.7 million).
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12.  Contributed Surplus

 
December 31 2009 2008

Opening balance 6,276 –

Recognized on Expiry of Warrants (note 9) – 3,824

Stock-based Compensation 2,473 2,452

Ending balance 8,749 6,276

13.  Loss Per Share

Net loss per share has been calculated based on the weighted average number of common shares 
outstanding the year of 207,464,320 (2008 – 201,323,914).

No stock options or warrants have been included in the calculation of the diluted shares outstanding for 
the years ended December 31, 2009 and December 31, 2008 as their inclusion would be anti-dilutive.

14.  Shareholder Rights Plan

On October 18, 2007, the Corporation adopted a shareholder rights plan (the “Plan”). Under the Plan, 
one right has been issued in respect of each currently issued common share and one right will be issued 
with each additional common share which is issued. The rights remain attached to the common shares 
and are not exercisable or separable unless one or more of certain specified events occur. If a person 
or group acting in concert acquires 20 per cent or more of the common shares of the Corporation, 
the rights will entitle the holders thereof (other than the acquiring person or group) to purchase 
common shares at a substantial discount from the then market price. The rights are not triggered by 
a “Permitted Bid” as defined in the Plan. The Plan will remain in effect until termination of the annual 
meeting of shareholders in 2010, unless extended by resolution of the shareholders at such meeting.

15.  Changes In Non-Cash Working Capital

 
For the Years Ended December 31 Source/(Use) 2009 2008

Operating Activities  

 Accounts Receivable (68) (58)

 Prepaid Expenses 67 (139)

 Accounts Payable and Accrued Liabilities (22) (30)

 Income Tax Payable (6,417) 4,679

  (6,440) 4,452

 
Investing Activities  

Accounts Receivable 5,349 (11,848)

Accounts Payable and Accrued Liabilities 4,993 8,418

  10,342 (3,430)
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16.  Related Party Transactions

Included in accounts receivable is a loan to a senior officer of $0.2 million, the loan is non-interest 
bearing and matures on December 31, 2010. This transaction has been recorded at the exchange 
amount, which is the amount of consideration established and agreed to by the related party.

17.  Commitments And Contingencies

Commitments

i. Production Sharing Contract (“PSC”)

Under the terms of its PSC, the Corporation has a 40 percent working interest and the KRG has a direct 
20 percent interest in the PSC which is carried by the Corporation. The remaining 40 percent was 
allocated to a wholly-owned subsidiary of Talisman by the KRG as announced on June 23, 2008. Under 
the terms of the PSC, Talisman paid the Corporation $50.7 million in costs incurred by the Corporation 
and Talisman funds its share of costs going forward. The Corporation, the KRG and Talisman are 
collectively the “Contractor Group” under the PSC. 

The PSC contemplates two exploration sub-periods of three years and two years, respectively, with two 
possible one-year extensions. The first exploration sub-period ends December 31, 2010. During such 
time, the Contractor Group is required to complete a minimum of 1,150 kilometres of seismic surveying 
(which the Corporation has already met and exceeded), drill three exploration wells and commit a 
minimum of $75 million in the aggregate on these activities. At the end of the first exploration sub-
period, the Corporation and the other parties to the PSC may relinquish the entire contract area (other 
than any discovery or development areas), continue further exploration by entering into the second 
exploration sub-period or request to use a one-year extension for further exploration and appraisal 
activities prior to deciding to enter into the second exploration sub-period. 

The PSC also includes capacity building support, which concluded in April 2009, and funding for 
certain technological, logistical, recruitment and training during the first exploration sub-period and 
any subsequent sub-periods. To meet its remaining commitments for the first exploration sub-period 
the Corporation estimates the expenditures to be approximately $40 million to $45 million prior to 
the costs of any testing, if required. This represents the Corporation’s 60 percent funding requirement 
and includes the remaining costs associated with drilling Kurdamir-1; one additional exploration well 
by December 31, 2010 (the end of the first exploration sub-period); and the associated supervision and 
local office costs in support of drilling operations. 

WesternZagros, on behalf of the Contractor Group, has made application to the KRG to extend the first 
exploration sub-period for a period of 12 months, i.e. to December 31, 2011, in order to allow sufficient time 
to analyze the results of the Kurdamir-1 cased hole testing program prior to the commencement of future 
exploration activities. Possibilities currently being analyzed for future exploration activities include:

1. drilling a well on the flank of the Kurdamir Structure to determine if the Oligocene Reservoir is oil 
bearing or gas-condensate bearing;

2. contracting an alternative rig to allow for greater flexibility in drilling to the reservoir targets for 
the third exploration commitment well.
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The response to the application is expected from the KRG following the final results of the cased hole 
testing program are known. 

During the second exploration sub-period, the Contractor Group, or those parties who have elected 
to participate in further exploration, is required to complete a minimum of 575 kilometres of seismic 
surveying, drill at least two exploration wells and commit a minimum of $35 million on these activities. 
At the end of the second exploration sub-period, the Corporation or those parties who have elected to 
participate in the second exploration sub-period, may relinquish the entire contract area (other than 
any discovery or development areas), or continue further exploration operations during two one-year 
extension periods, which would extend the total exploration period to December 31, 2014. At the end 
of the second exploration sub-period, and at the end of each subsequent extension period, the PSC 
requires the Corporation, and those parties who have elected to participate, to relinquish 25 percent 
of the remaining undeveloped area within the PSC lands.

The Corporation will be the operator of the PSC lands during the first exploration sub-period. For 
subsequent sub-periods, a joint operating company will be established between the Corporation, the 
KRG, and Talisman, if so elected.

Under the terms of the PSC the sharing of oil occurs as follows: of the total oil produced, operations 
oil is available to the Contractor Group for use in carrying out its obligations under the PSC; the 
remaining oil is subject to a 10 percent royalty payable to the KRG (the residual is considered to be 
“net available oil”). The net available oil is determined on a development by development basis. Up 
to 45 percent of the net available oil is available for cost recovery with the remainder as “profit oil”. 
Costs subject to cost recovery include all costs and expenditures incurred by the Contractor Group 
for exploration, development, production and decommissioning operations, as well as any other costs 
and expenditures incurred directly or indirectly with these activities. The portion of profit oil available 
to the Contractor Group is based on a sliding scale from 35 percent to 16 percent depending on a 
calculated R-Factor. The R-Factor is established by reference to the ratio of cumulative revenues over 
cumulative costs. When the ratio is below one, the Contractor Group is entitled to 35 percent of the 
profit oil. The percentage is then reduced on a linear sliding scale to a minimum of 16 percent at an 
R-Factor ratio of two or greater. 

The production sharing terms for natural gas differ from those for oil as the net available gas for cost 
recovery is increased to 55 percent and the profit sharing terms are also increased. For natural gas 
the portion of profit natural gas available for the Contractor Group is based on a sliding scale from 40 
percent to 20 percent depending on a calculated R-factor. The R-Factor is established by reference to 
the ratio of the Contractor Group’s cumulative revenue to their cumulative costs. When the R-Factor 
is below one, the Contractor Group is entitled to 40 percent of the Profit Oil. The Contractor Group’s 
percentage is then reduced on a linear scale to a minimum of 20 percent at a ratio of 2.75 or greater.

ii. Participation Rights 

The Corporation has granted participation rights for up to five percent in respect to the Corporation’s 
interest in the PSC to certain third parties at the same terms as the Corporation has under the PSC. 
Certain portions of the participation interest may be funded by interest-bearing loans granted by 
the Corporation.
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iii. Other 

The Corporation has entered into various exploration related contracts, including drilling equipment, 
services and tangibles, and seismic surveying equipment and services, in order to meet contractual 
commitments under the PSC. The following table summarizes the commitments the Corporation has 
under these exploration related contracts and other contractual obligations at December 31, 2009:

 For the Years Ending  
December 31  2010 2011 2012 2013 2014+ Total

Exploration  1,260 – – – – 1,260

Office  140 – – – – 140

  1,400 – – – – 1,400

Contingencies

Litigation

From time to time the Corporation may become involved in legal or administrative proceedings in the 
normal conduct of its business. Amounts involved in such matters are not reasonably estimable due to 
uncertainty as to the final outcome. The Company’s assessment of the likely outcome of these matters 
is based on its judgment of a number of factors, including precedents and facts specific to the matter. 
The Corporation does not believe these matters in aggregate will have a material adverse effect on its 
consolidated financial position or results of operations.

Regulatory

Oil and gas operations are subject to extensive controls and regulations imposed by various levels 
of government that may be amended from time to time. The Corporation’s operations may require 
licenses and permits from various governmental authorities in the countries in which it operates. Under 
the PSC, the KRG is obligated to assist in obtaining all permits and licenses from any government 
agencies in the Kurdistan Region and from any other government administration in Iraq. There can be 
no assurance that the Corporation will be able to obtain all necessary licenses and permits that may be 
required to carry out exploration and development of its projects.

The political and security situation in Iraq is unsettled and volatile. The Kurdistan Region is the only 
“Region” of Iraq that is constitutionally established pursuant to the Iraq Constitution, which expressly 
recognizes the Kurdistan Region. The political issues of federalism and the autonomy of the Regions of 
Iraq, the Federal Petroleum Law and the ability to export oil and natural gas from the Kurdistan Region 
of Iraq in accordance with the economic terms under the PSC, are matters about which there are major 
differences between the various political factions in Iraq. These differences could adversely impact the 
Corporation’s interest in the Kurdistan Region including the ability to export any hydrocarbons as a 
result of any successful exploration activities.
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18.  Financial Instruments And Risk Management 

Financial instruments of the Corporation consist of cash and cash equivalents and short-term 
investments, accounts receivable, accounts payable and accrued liabilities. The Corporation’s cash and 
cash equivalents are designated as held-for-trading and are measured at fair value, which approximates 
carrying value due to the short-term nature of these instruments. The Corporation’s short-term 
investments are classified as “held-to-maturity” and are measured at amortized cost. The fair value 
of cash and cash equivalents is classified as Level I fair value measurement. Accounts receivable are 
designated as loans and receivables and recorded at amortized cost, which approximates fair value 
due to the short term nature of the instrument. Accounts payable and accrued liabilities are designated 
as other liabilities and are recorded at amortized cost. The fair value of accounts payable and accrued 
liabilities approximate their carrying values due to the short term nature of these instruments. 

The Corporation is exposed to credit risk, market risk, liquidity and funding risk. The following is a 
description of those risks and how the Corporation manages exposure to them:

Credit risk 

Credit risk is the risk of loss associated with counterparty’s inability to fulfill its payment obligations. 
The Corporation is currently exposed to credit risk on its cash and cash equivalents and short-term 
investments, to the extent that these balances are invested with various institutions. The Board 
of Directors of the Corporation has approved an Investment Policy to dictate the various types of 
instruments and institutions that can be invested in and monitors these against this policy on a regular 
basis. Currently, the Corporation has entered into transactions for cash equivalents and short-term 
investments with major Canadian financial institutions with investment grade credit ratings, as well as 
purchases Government of Canada instruments.

Under the terms of the PSC, as described in note 17 (i), the KRG elected a wholly-owned subsidiary of 
Talisman as the third party participant under the PSC. The Corporation is subject to credit risk associated 
with Talisman’s 40 percent interest in the PSC and its share of related expenditures. Accordingly, the 
ability of the Corporation to successfully carry out the exploration, appraisal and development of 
its PSC lands may be impacted by the continued participation of Talisman in these activities. As at 
December 31, 2009, the Corporation had $6.9 million of receivables outstanding from Talisman, under 
credit terms defined by the PSC, including penalty provisions for any amount in default. 

Market risk

Market risk is the risk of loss that may arise from changes in market factors such as interest rate, 
foreign exchange rates and equity or commodity prices. The Corporation is exposed to interest 
rate risk to the extent that changes in market interest rates will impact any interest earned on the 
Corporation’s cash and cash equivalents. The Corporation is also exposed to foreign exchange risk, 
as the majority of costs are anticipated to be incurred in U.S. dollars and the funds it will have 
available to it may be in other currencies. 

The Corporation’s Investment Policy dictates the various types of instruments and institutions that can 
be invested in and monitors these against this policy on a regular basis. The Board of Directors has 
also approved a Foreign Exchange Policy to dictate the currencies held by the Corporation and the 
instruments that can be utilized by the Corporation to meet day to day needs. This Foreign Exchange 
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Policy requires the Corporation to hold the majority of its cash and cash equivalents and short-term 
investments in U.S. dollars and sets out the type and duration of instruments that can be used to 
meet the Corporation’s day to day foreign exchange needs. The Foreign Exchange Policy does allow 
the Corporation to hold other balances, mainly Canadian dollars, to meet the requirements to fund 
ongoing general and administrative and other spending requirements in these currencies. Neither 
policy permits the Corporation to enter into any economic hedging as it relates to interest or foreign 
exchange risks. As at December 31, 2009 had the U.S. Dollar changed by one percent against the 
Canadian dollar, with all other variables held constant, the Corporation’s foreign exchange loss would 
not have been affected significantly.

The marketability and price of oil and natural gas that may be acquired or discovered by the 
Corporation is, and will continue to be, affected by numerous factors beyond its control including the 
impact that the various levels of government may have on the ultimate price received for oil and gas 
sales. The Corporation’s ability to market its oil and natural gas may depend upon its ability to secure 
transportation. The Corporation may also be affected by deliverability uncertainties related to the 
proximity of its potential production to pipelines and processing facilities and operational problems 
affecting such pipelines and facilities as well as potential government regulation relating to price, the 
export of oil and natural gas and other aspects of the oil and natural gas business.

Both oil and natural gas prices are subject to wide fluctuation. During 2009, both oil and gas prices 
remained volatile with West Texas Intermediate ranging from $30 to $80 per barrel. WesternZagros 
originally negotiated the economic terms of its PSC in 2007 in a $50 per bbl crude oil price environment 
and any significant and sustained decline in crude oil prices from this price may impact the feasibility 
of WesternZagros’ business plan. 

Liquidity and funding risks

Liquidity and funding risk is the risk that the Corporation may be unable to generate or obtain sufficient 
cash or its equivalent in a timely and cost-effective manner to meet its commitments as they come 
due. As the Corporation is engaged in acquiring properties and exploring for crude oil and natural gas 
and is in the developmental stage, it currently does not have a revenue source outside of interest on its 
cash and cash equivalent and short-term investment balances. The Corporation is therefore required 
to fund its share of all commitments from existing balances or access additional sources of cash from 
the equity markets. The Corporation under the terms of the PSC is committed to fund its 40 percent 
interest and the 20 percent interest of the KRG, with Talisman funding their 40 percent interest. If 
Talisman elects to not participate in future exploration and development activities this could either 
increase the Corporation’s capital requirements to complete the exploration or development activities, 
or result in a new co-venturer being selected by the KRG. 

The Board of Directors reviews the Corporation’s cash and cash equivalent balances against the 
Corporation’s commitments and assesses the timing and need for additional equity financing on a 
regular basis. However, the Corporation’s results will impact its ability to access the capital necessary 
to meet these commitments. There can be no assurance that debt or equity financing will be available 
or sufficient to meet these requirements or for other corporate purposes or, if debt or equity financing 
is available, that it will be on terms acceptable to the Corporation. In recent years, the capital markets 
have seen a period of significant market instability. The Corporation’s ability to access the capital 
markets in the future may be affected by any prolonged period of market instability. The inability of 
Corporation to access sufficient capital for its operations could have a material adverse effect on the 
Corporation’s financial condition, results of operations and prospects. 
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19.  Capital Structure

The Corporation’s capital consists of shareholder’s equity and working capital. The Corporation 
will adjust its capital structure to manage its drilling program through the issuance of shares and 
adjustments to capital spending. 

The Corporation’s objectives when managing its capital structure are to:

i) Ensure adequate levels of available cash and cash equivalents and short-term investments to 
meet the Corporation’s commitments under the PSC.

ii) To prudently fund expenditures related to the acquisition of properties, and for exploration, 
appraisal and development of crude oil and natural gas resources.

The Corporation funds its share of expenditures of all commitments from existing cash and cash 
equivalent balances received primarily from issuances of shareholders’ equity. The Corporation has 
not entered into any debt financing arrangements at the balance sheet date and is not subject to any 
externally imposed capital requirements. 

The Board of Directors regularly reviews the Corporation’s cash and cash equivalents and short-
term investments against the Corporation’s expenditure commitments and assesses the timing and 
need for additional equity financing. The Corporation’s results will impact its access to the capital 
necessary to meet these expenditure commitments. There can be no assurance that equity financing 
will be available or sufficient to meet those commitments, or for other corporate purposes, or if 
equity financing is available, that it will be on terms acceptable to the Corporation. The inability of 
the Corporation to access sufficient capital for its operations could have a material adverse impact 
on the Corporation’s financial condition, results of operations and prospects. During the latter part 
of 2008 and early 2009 the capital markets have seen a period of significant market instability. The 
Corporation’s ability to access the capital markets in the future may be affected by any prolonged 
period of market instability.

20.  Subsequent Events

The Corporation has in place well control insurance. Subsequent to December 31, 2009, the Corporation is 
currently pursuing a claim for the associated costs of the well control operations for the Kurdamir-1 well. 

21.  Change In Financial Statement Presentation

Certain comparative information has been changed in conformity to the current year financial 
statement presentation.

notes to the consolidated financial statements
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Natural Gas Oil

cf cubic feet bbl barrel

cm cubic metre bbl/d barrels per day

Bcf billion cubic feet Mbbl thousand barrels

Bcf/d billion cubic feet per day MMbbl million barrels

Bcm billion cubic metres Bbbl billion barrels

Mcf thousand cubic feet

Mcf/d thousand cubic feet per day

Mcm thousand cubic metres

MMcf million cubic feet

MMcf/d million cubic feet per day

Other

API American Petroleum Institute

°API

an indication of the specific gravity of crude oil measured 
on the API gravity scale. Liquid petroleum with a specified 
gravity of 28°API or higher is generally referred to as light 
crude oil.

BOE

barrels of oil equivalent. A barrel of oil equivalent is determined 
by converting a volume of natural gas to barrels using the ratio 
of 6 Mcf to one barrel. BOEs may be misleading, particularly 
if used in isolation. A BOE conversion ratio of 6 Mcf:1 BOE is 
based on an energy equivalency conversion method primarily 
applicable at the burner tip and does not represent a value 
equivalency at the wellhead.

BOE/d barrels of oil equivalent per day

°C degrees, Celsius

ft feet

km kilometre

km2 square kilometre

m metre

MMBOE million barrels of oil equivalent

Abbreviations and conversion factors

In this Annual Report, the following abbreviations have 
the meanings set forth below.
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To Convert From To Multiply By

ft m 0.305

m ft 3.281

miles km 1.610

km miles 0.621

acres km2 0.004

km2 acres 247.1

bbl Mcm 0.000159

Mcm bbl 6.290

cf cm 0.0283

cm cf 35.315

abbreviations and conversion factors

The following table sets forth certain standard 
conversions between Standard Imperial Units and the 
International System of Units (or metric units)
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In this Annual Report, the following words and  
phrases have the meanings set forth below, unless 
otherwise indicated.

“Carbonate” means rock formed from the hard parts of marine organisms, mainly 
consisting of calcite, aragonite and dolomite;

“Casing” means a series of tubular steel pipes joined by threads and couplings that 
lines the wellbore to prevent water and rock from entering;

“Condensate” means liquids recovered during the production of natural gas, 
consisting primarily of pentane and heavier hydrocarbons;

“Contingent Resources” means those quantities of petroleum estimated, as 
of a given date, to be potentially recoverable from known accumulations using 
established technology or technology under development, but which are 
not currently considered to be commercially recoverable due to one or more 
contingencies. Contingent Resources have an associated chance of development 
(economic, regulatory, market and facility, corporate commitment or political 
risks). Contingent Resources are not risked for the chance of development. There 
is no certainty that they will be commercially viable to produce any portion of the 
contingent resources;

“Coring” means collecting a cylindrical sample of rock, cut by a special bit during 
the drilling process;

“Corporation” or “WesternZagros” means WesternZagros Resources Ld. and its 
subsidiaries, unless the context requires otherwise;

“Discovered gas initially-in-place” means that quantity of gas that is estimated, 
as of a given date, to be contained in known accumulations prior to production. 
The recoverable portion of discovered gas initially-in-place includes production, 
reserves and contingent resources; the remainder is unrecoverable;

“Draft Federal Petroleum Law” means the draft Iraq federal petroleum law for 
which consensus was reached on February 15, 2007 by a committee comprising 
representatives of Kurdistan and the parties included in the Council of 
Representatives (Cabinet) of the Government of Iraq;

“Drilling Mud” means specialized mud mixed at the drill site and pumped down the 
drillstring and up the annulus to prevent blowouts, remove cuttings and cool and 
lubricate the bit;

“Drill Stem Test” means a method of sampling fluid from a formation using a tool 
attached to the drill stem; the sample is used to assess the type and volume of 
fluids in the formation as well as their pressure and rate of flow;

“Formation” means a designated subsurface layer that is composed throughout of 
substantially the same kind of rock or rock types;

Definitions
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“Gas” means natural gas;

“Iraq Constitution” means the permanent constitution of Iraq approved by the 
people of Iraq in the general referendum on October 15, 2005;

“Iraq Council of Ministers” means the executive council of the Government of Iraq, 
appointed by the Presidency Council;

“Iraq Council of Representatives” means the main elected body of representatives 
in Iraq, who form the legislative branch of government;

“Government of Iraq” means the Federal Government of Iraq;

“Hydrocarbon” means a large class of liquid, solid or gaseous organic compounds, 
containing only carbon and hydrogen, which are the basis of almost all petroleum 
products;

“Kirkuk Field” means an oilfield in Iraq that was discovered in 1927 and is the 
basis of northern Iraqi oil production;

“KRG” means the Kurdistan Regional Government;

“Kurdamir-1” means the second commitment well under the PSC. It was drilled by 
WesternZagros from May 2009 to February 2010;

 “Kurdistan” means the Kurdistan Region of Iraq;

“Kurdistan Regional Oil & Gas Law” means a law passed on August 6, 2007 by the 
Kurdistan Regional Government concerning management of the Kurdistan Region’s 
oil and gas resources;

 “Logging” means gathering detailed depth-related records of certain significant 
details of an oil or gas well; usually obtained by lowering measurement instruments 
into a well;

“Pay zone” means the producing part of a formation;

“Prospective Resources” means those quantities of petroleum estimated, as of a given 
date, to be potentially recoverable from undiscovered accumulations by application 
of future development projects. Prospective Resources have both an associated 
chance of discovery (geological chance of success) and a chance of development 
(economic, regulatory, market and facility, corporate commitment or political risks). 
Prospective Resources are not risked for either the chance of discovery or the chance 
of development. There is no certainty that any portion of the prospective resources 
will be discovered. If discovered, there is no certainty that it will be commercially 
viable to produce any portion of the prospective resources;

“PSC” means the Production Sharing Contract which was signed by the Corporation 
and the KRG on February 28, 2008;

definitions
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“PSC Lands” means the area covered by the PSC consisting of a 2,120 km2 
exploration project area on Block 44 (the Kalar-Bawanoor Block) in the Garmian 
area of Kurdistan;

“Region” means a region of Iraq that is constitutionally established pursuant to the 
Iraq Constitution;

“Reservoir” means a porous and permeable underground rock formation containing 
a natural accumulation of crude oil or natural gas that is confined by impermeable 
rock or water barriers, and is separate from other reservoirs;

“Sarqala-1” means the first commitment well under the PSC. It was drilled from May 
2008 to March 2009;

“Seismic program” means a study using sound waves to create detailed models of 
underlying geological formations and to find oil and natural gas reservoirs;

“Talisman”	means	Talisman	(Block	44)	B.V.,	a	wholly-owned	subsidiary	of	Talisman	
Energy Inc.;

“Wellbore” means a hole drilled or bored into the earth, usually cased with metal 
pipe, for the production of gas or oil;

“Wildcat well” means a well drilled in a previously unexplored area;

“Wireline log” means a measurement that was obtained by using special tools or 
equipment, such as logging tools, packers or measuring devices, designed to be 
lowered into the well on a wireline (small-diameter steel cable);

“Undiscovered Resources” means that quantity of petroleum that is estimated, 
as of a given date, to be contained in accumulations yet to be discovered; also 
referred to as “oil or gas initially-in-place.”

Note: WesternZagros thanks the Centre for Energy Information (www.centreforenergy.
com) for many of the definitions used in this report.

definitions
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